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12 months to 6 months to 6 months to 6 months to
Dec 2003 Dec 2003 June 2003 Dec 2002

Gold produced (oz) 194,000 103,867 90,133 87,281
Gold sales (US$000) 71,578 40,199 31,379 27,420
Profit after tax (US$000) 18,049 9,557 8,492 5,352
Operating cash flow (US$000) 32,743 18,553 14,190 7,751
Operating cash costs (US$/oz) 159 166 152 159
Total assets (US$000) 196,475 196,475 105,081 103,091
Earnings per share (US$) 0.163 0.086 0.077 0.052
Dividends per share (US$) 0.030 0.015 0.015 0.010
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CORPORATE PROFILE

Highland Gold is a low cost gold
producer with significant reserves
and a strong growth profile. 
The Company’s assets and
management team are located 
in Russia.

The Group produced 194,000 oz of
gold in 2003 at a total cash cost of
US$184 per oz. The Group’s gold
production remains completely
unhedged. It manages operating and
country risk with an experienced
local management team.

The Russian management combined
with Western corporate governance
and a UK stock market quotation
allows the Group access to acquisition
opportunities and capital.

The medium-term strategic goal 
is to produce in excess of 500,000 oz
of gold annually at a total cash cost
of below US$200 per oz. While much
of this growth will be fuelled by three
projects currently under development,
the Group also expects to build on its
past acquisition successes. 

Highland Gold has 119,838,260
common shares in issue which trade
on AIM in London under the symbol
“HGM.L”. Through an IPO in
December 2002 and a new share
issue in January 2004, the Company
raised a total of US$71.8 million.
Company management, Barrick Gold
Corporation and interests related to
the Fleming family are all significant
shareholders.

Russia is the world’s 5th largest
gold producing country. Russia is
home to an increasingly stable
investment climate and offers
opportunities to those who are 
able to take advantage of the 
strong mining culture and highly
educated personnel.



- Gold production at MNV reached a
record of 194,000 oz at an operating
cash cost of US$159 per oz.

- Reserves and resources 
doubled from 4 million oz to
8 million oz, and from 8 million oz 
to 17 million oz, respectively.

- Purchased the MNV mill and 
other property that had been
previously leased. 

- Successfully tendered for the
Darasun/ Teremky long-term
licenses. Completed a feasibility
study that resulted in higher mining
and mill throughput. Initiated
intensive mine rehabilitation work
and construction of a new
processing plant. At the year end,
the Darasun re-development project
was almost complete.

- Significantly progressed the feasibility
study for Novoshirokinskoye 
to define the mining methods 
and flow sheets in order to enable
construction to start in the middle
of 2004.

- Acquired 100% of the 9 million oz
Mayskoye deposit for a cash
payment of US$34.9 million phased
over a two year period.

- Welcomed Barrick Gold, the world’s
3rd largest gold producer, as a 
shareholder and strategic partner
and raised US$40 million from a
new share issue to Barrick, in
January 2004.

2003 ACHIEVEMENTS
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ACHIEVEMENTS AND GOALS



- Produce 235,000 oz of gold at MNV
and Darasun.

- Participate in tenders for the 
Talatui and Novoshirokinskoye 
long-term licenses.

- Complete all construction work 
at Darasun and start production in
May 2004.

- Finalise the re-calculation of
Novoshirokinskoye reserves/
resources, begin underground
rehabilitation work and processing 
plant modifications.

- Initiate and complete a feasibility
study on the Mayskoye project,
including an assessment of the
optimal production capacity.
Construct a permanent camp for
operating personnel 
and lay foundations for the
processing plant and other related
support facilities. 

- Continue to demonstrate to the
investor community that the
management team can acquire,
finance, develop and operate gold
projects profitably.

- Continue to take advantage of
acquisition opportunities in Russia
and the FSU if acquisition and
development costs are attractive.

2004 GOALS



Prospects for 2004 are exciting with
the onset of our second producing
mine at Darasun and the further
development of our other two
deposits. This gives the Company an
excellent platform for further growth
through exploration and acquisition
of additional deposits in Russia and
the Former Soviet Union.

Results and Dividend
Highland Gold delivered a strong
financial performance in the year to
31 December 2003. Net profit after
tax was US$18.0 million (2002
US$5.4 million) and earnings per
share were 16.3 cents (2002 5.2
cents). 2002 is not, however,
comparable as it comprised only 184
days trading.

The Company proposes to pay a 
final dividend of 1.5 cents per share,
which matches the interim payment.
Thus the dividend for the year will 
be 3 cents per share.

The key milestones during the year
were firstly, our operating mine MNV
increased production for the fifth
consecutive year to a record 194,000
oz; an increase of 9% from the
178,000 oz produced in 2002. The
Company also successfully acquired
at auction certain assets at MNV that
had previously been leased from the
Khabarovsk Administration. The
consideration was US$26.7 million.

Secondly, at the beginning of 2003,
Highland Gold commenced
development of the Darasun
deposits, including mine preparation
and the construction of a mill
complex. Darasun is on schedule to
start production in May 2004. Thirdly,
the first stage of the feasibility study

for Novoshirokinskoye was finalised
and construction will start shortly
so that production can commence
in 2005. 

Lastly, in September 2003, Highland
Gold completed a major acquisition
by purchasing for US$34.9 million,
the high-grade, potentially low-cost
Mayskoye deposit in the Chukotka
region. This acquisition doubled the
Company’s resource base to
17 million oz.

Further Corporate Developments
In January 2004, Highland Gold
agreed a share issue and a strategic
partnership with Barrick Gold
Corporation of Canada. The share
issue, which took Barrick’s stake in
Highland Gold to 17%, raised
US$40.0 million strengthening the
Company’s balance sheet and giving
it the ability to accelerate its capital
expenditure programme. 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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I am pleased to present 
Highland Gold’s Annual Report for
the year to 31 December 2003. 
This was Highland Gold’s first full
year as a quoted company and one
in which considerable progress
was made. 



Board and Management
In order to strengthen and broaden
the Board, three new executive
directors were appointed during
2003. Dmitri Korobov and Gennady
Nevidomi have been involved with the
successful rehabilitation of MNV
since 1998 and joined the Board as
Commercial Director and Production
Director respectively. Denis
Alexandrov joined the Company,
initially as head of internal audit and
was subsequently promoted to the
position of Finance Director. In
February 2004, Mike Pleming
stepped down from the Board after
Harmony sold its stake in Highland
Gold. On behalf of the Board I would
like to thank Mike for sharing his
experience with us and for his
considerable contribution during 
the development of Highland Gold 
in 2003.

I believe that Highland Gold
possesses a highly skilled,
experienced and committed work
force that has a proven track record.
Highland Gold’s achievements have
only been made possible by the
expertise and hard work of all its
employees. I would therefore like to
record the Board’s appreciation of
each individual’s contribution and
commitment during 2003.

Corporate Governance
The Directors have implemented,
where practicable, the main
provisions of various codes and
reports published for public
companies listed on the London
Stock Exchange, including auditing,
risk management and ethical
conduct. We run our business in a
transparent manner to ensure that
these provisions are applied
throughout the organisation.

The Board also recognises that
sound environmental management
policies, social acceptance and
community sustainability are
essential to the success of our
Company. We are proud of our
environmental track record and our
commitment to comply with Russian
regulatory requirements, which are
rigorous by international standards.
In health and safety matters, we have
designed and implemented policies
to minimise accidents in the
workplace and in 2004, we intend to
continue extending these policies, to
be fully compliant with the highest
international standards.

We understand the need to improve
the quality of life of our employees
and their families and the community
and have supported projects
contributing to the well-being of the
population at large, including
supporting sports teams and
childrens activities. 

Strategic Priorities
At MNV, management will continue
to look at ways of improving
efficiency. This is particularly
important against the background 
of a forecast inflation rate for 
Russia of 10% for 2004 and the
likelihood of the rouble continuing 
to strengthen against the dollar. 

Production at Darasun is expected 
to commence in May 2004 on
schedule and within budget.

The further construction of mining
facilities at Novoshirokinskoye will
start during 2004 so that production
can commence in 2005.

By the end of the year, we will have
finalised the feasibility study on
Mayskoye including various options
for the development of the mine and
maximisation of output. We will also
have significantly advanced the
preparatory work necessary to start
construction in 2005 and have had
discussions with various banks to
arrange finance.



In line with our growth strategy we
will continue to explore acquisition
opportunities and will now have the
benefits of our strategic partnership
with Barrick.

Highland Gold benefited from the
appreciation of the gold price during
2003. The Board does not anticipate a
major correction of the gold price but
maintains a prudent policy of low
cash operating costs. Our policy is to
stay unhedged. 

Highland Gold also benefited from
positive developments in Russia.
There is an increasing pool of skilled
personnel that we can draw from to
implement our growth strategy. 

Russia and the countries of the
Former Soviet Union continue to 
offer a positive macro economic
background in which Highland Gold
can prosper. There remain
opportunities to acquire, at prices
that offer excellent value to
shareholders, assets at all stages 
of development. 

It is our intention to continue to build
and develop good working
relationships at all levels with the
Federal, Regional and Local
administrations. 

2004 will be a year of significant
development with a special focus on
geological and exploration work. We
will have the continued transition to
the new ore body at MNV, Darasun
coming on stream, construction work
at Novoshinokinskoye, the Mayskoye
feasibility study and infrastructure
construction and potential
acquisitions. As part of the
exploration programme, proposals to
set up an exploration company with
Barrick are under consideration.

Reflecting the success in our current
projects, capital expenditure is being
brought forward with a consequent
increase in interest costs in the
current year.

2004 will be an exciting year and we
look forward to it with optimism.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT continued
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Peter Daresbury
Chairman



OPERATING REVIEW 

The Group has changed significantly
during the year 2003. It had one
operating mine and now has four
gold deposits, two of which are of
significant size by international
standards and in three different
regions of Russia. We have
attributed operating cash flow
towards developing new projects
aimed at enhancing future earnings
and future cash flows. To improve
management efficiency and meet the
standards expected from a London-
quoted company, we have altered
our corporate structure, enhanced
decision-making processes and
hired additional professionals with
the required skills.

2003 Production results
MNV increased production for the
fifth consecutive year. The production
target of 194,000 oz for 2003 was
achieved, an increase of 9% from
178,000 oz in 2002. This positive
development was achieved in spite 
of the transition to a new ore body.

Mining developments in 2003
Open pit mining activities decreased
as a result of the closure of the
Southern ore body where reserves
are now exhausted. Open pit
activities are now carried out in the
Upper ore body. In 2003, most
underground mining activities 
were at the Southern and Central 
ore bodies. 

Mnogovershinnoe (MNV)

On behalf of my team let me 
share with you our major
achievements during 2003 and
what is planned in 2004.

MNV Key Production Parameters
Measurement
unit 2003 2002 %

Gold processing plant
Ore processed tonnes 891,202 806,029 10.57%
Gold in the mill feed kg 6,557 6,033 8.68%
Average grade g/tonne 7.36 7.49 (1.74%)
Recovery rate % 92.0% 91.7% 0.33%
Gold produced kg 6,034 5,535 9.02%
Gold sold kg 5,999 5,701 5.23%
Gold sold oz 192,878 183,300 5.22%
Mine
Ore mined – total tonnes 800,800 762,761 4.99%

including – underground tonnes 474,767 374,849 26.66%
open-pit tonnes 326,033 387,912 (15.95%)

Gold in ore mined kg 6,162 5,744 7.28%
Average grade g/tonne 7.70 7.53 2.26%
Gold in ore mined underground kg 4,189 2,516 66.49%
Average grade underground ore g/tonne 8.82 6.71 31.44%
Gold in ore mined open pit kg 1,974 3,228 (38.85%)
Average grade open pit ore g/tonne 6.05 8.32 (27.28%)
Ore stock-pile at the end of the year
Ore available tonnes 302,201 393,610 (23.22%)
Gold contained kg 1,098 1,523 (27.91%)
Average grade g/tonne 3.63 3.87 (6.20%)
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OPERATING REVIEW continued

To increase mill throughput, we have 
used low grade ore from our
stockpile. As the stockpile remains
significant, we intend to continue 
to use this ore to maintain 
production levels independent 
of the transition to new ore bodies.

Improvements in maintenance have
reduced downtime in the grinding
department and the
hydrometallurgical production unit of
the mill, leading to enhanced
production parameters.

2004 Outlook
Moving forward, the main open-pit
activities will take place in the Upper
ore body. The main underground
mining operations will take place in
the Central ore body and later in the
Northern ore body. We will start
mining development at the Deer ore
body (not marked in the longitudinal
section above) to replace the Central
ore body once mined out. We intend
to design the restoration project for
the Southern ore body.

We are currently testing industrial
processes to decrease cyanide
tailings. This will lead to reduced
production costs and be better for
the environment.

To support and develop production,
we intend to invest in new
equipment; drill rigs, dump-trucks
and transformer substations.
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2003 Development activities
At the beginning of 2003, we started
the development of two of the three
Darasun deposits, with intensive
mine preparation and development 
at the Darasun and Teremky
underground mines. 

The construction of the flotation 
and hydrometallurgy buildings 
at the processing plant was nearing
completion at the year end. 
The tailings facility was completed
and will accommodate five years 
of initial production. 

2004 Outlook
The plant is in place to start
operations in May 2004. Our target is
to produce 40,000 oz of gold in 2004
and mines expect to break even by
the end of 2004. 

Mining activities will take place in the
Central, South Western and Teremky
shafts. The South Western and
Eastern shafts are located where
there are large veins with high
geological grade. We will conduct
rehabilitation work in the Eastern
shaft to get access to the high grade
reserves identified beneath.

We are currently recalculating the
open-pit reserves at Talatui after
assessing how best to mine the ore
body and designing the open-pit
development accordingly. As soon as
we have secured the long term
license to the Talatui ore body, we
will start stripping work there with a
fleet of new open pit mining
equipment.

Darasun

DARASUN SHAFT SCHEME



10/11  Highland Gold Mining Limited
Annual Report & Accounts 2003

OPERATING REVIEW continued

2003 Development activities
Prior to acquisition in 2002 the Novo
mine had been researched and
extensively developed to produce
primarily zinc and lead, with gold and
silver as by-products. At the
beginning of 2003, the Group
commissioned a feasibility study 
to review both the ore body and 
the existing plants to prioritise 
gold production.

On the basis of the results of the
feasibility study, we are currently 
re-calculating the reserves. We are
working on re-designing the 
mining-metallurgical facility on the
basis of a new flow sheet that
provides us with optimised recovery
rates for all metals.

2004 Outlook
By the summer of 2004 we will have
the final engineering design and
should start to procure equipment
and construction supplies. At the
same time we intend to start
rehabilitation of some of the
production units (mill building, mine
development, compressor-house,
electricity supply, heating), build
access roads and additional
production capacity. 

The final feasibility study should be
finalised by the year end. Production
will possibly start in the second half
of 2005, with a target of 25,000 oz 
to be produced, with full scale
production targeted at 75,000 oz 
in 2006.

Following the acquisition of the
Mayskoye deposit in September 2003,
we have taken measures to fully
understand the deposit and its
potential. This work is progressing
actively on a number of fronts,
including ongoing discussions with
Barrick regarding their participation
and its development. Firstly, an 11
tonne bulk sample was taken from
the mine in the last quarter of 2003.
A flotation concentrate has been
produced from this sample and it is
now being sent to domestic and
international laboratories for further
metallurgical testing into bio
leaching and other conventional
treatment options. Results from
these tests will be available in the
second half of 2004. Based on
historic tests performed by different
companies we are confident with the
bio leaching process and are
considering where best to source the
technology.

Secondly, we are in the process of
updating the mineable ore reserves
to bring them into line with the
current outlook for the gold market.
We believe this will result in the
inclusion of further resources that
had been excluded from the previous
2001-02 estimates. In addition, we
are planning to restate our reserves
and resources to JORC standards.

MayskoyeNovoshirokinskoye (Novo)



We are confident that the previously
discussed plan for the throughput of
550,000 tonnes is feasible and we are
taking steps to accelerate its
development. Included in this fast
track programme are early
commitments for camp construction,
infrastructure development, laying
the foundation for the process plant
and pre-placement of construction
materials. We have initiated
discussions with several banks and
international financial agencies in
relation to raising project finance.

Thirdly, we are currently assessing
various mine plan options, including
a scenario that sees sustainable
mining and plant throughput at a rate
of up to 1 million tonnes per year.
This work is being done by our in-
house mining engineers in tandem
with the Magadan-based institute
that has been commissioned to
undertake our feasibility study.

Finally, we have initiated a full review
of prior exploration data outside the
boundaries of our existing resource.
In the beginning, this compilation
work will focus on the results of
some 700 drill holes at Mayskoye that
were not used in the current resource
calculation. We are particularly
interested in the potential for
increasing the size and grade of the
resource at depth. We hope that
positive results from this compilation
work will lead towards a modest
exploration drilling programme in
parallel with mine development work.

In order to lead the development of
the Group and manage its current
operations we expanded the
operations of Russdragmet -
(“RDM”), our Moscow based
management company to combine
operational management and central
corporate administration functions. 
I am pleased to report that we have
an appropriate management
structure in place that can support
the growth of the business.

One of the tasks set for 2003 was to
reduce operational risks. This has
now been achieved. The registration
of title for most of our assets is
complete; main licenses have been
secured and key assets previously
leased have been purchased
ensuring continuing operations of the
Group going forward. I personally
would like to thank our non executive
board members James Cross,
Christopher Palmer-Tomkinson and
Mike Pleming for their strong
support and assistance in building a
robust risk management system.

Organisational
developments
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OPERATING REVIEW continued

As of 31 December 2003, the Group
employed 2,800 people, including 
80 people at RDM in Moscow,
14 people in the representative office
of Khabarovsk and 26 people in the
representative office in Chita. 
The headcount breakdown is 
shown above.

The Group has welcomed two new
key management team members. 
Mr Kiselev joined as head of the
Mayskoye mine. He is a qualified
geological engineer and has held
several positions of responsibility in
prospecting in the Chukotka region
from 1976 to date. Mr Solovyov also
joined to lead the Human Resources
function at RDM. Mr Solovyov
graduated from the Institute of
Foreign Affairs in 1988 with a degree
in International Affairs. Mr Solovyov
has held senior HR management
positions with several major
multinational companies from 1993.

We have also acquired a construction
project company, Zabaikalzoloto
Project (“ZBZP”), based in Chita, with
more than 20 years proven
experience, employing 35 highly
qualified mining engineers. It also
owns licenses to design and build
mining and metallurgical facilities.
They already work closely with our
developing mines. This acquisition
will help to keep our cost base down
by limiting consultants fees and help
us to continue to build on schedule.

One of our great advantages is the
large pool of skilled mining
specialists available in Russia and in
the Former Soviet Union. The Group
actively promotes various training
programs and has introduced and
implemented a Staff Skills
Improvement Program.

In addition the Group carefully
monitors productivity. The table
below shows that, as headcount and
output grows, MNV efficiency in
terms of output per head is
improving. The income of all
employees is linked to the
performance of both the Company
and the employee.

Productivity – Production vs.
Headcount (MNV data)

Production, Production
kg per head, kg

2000 3,319 2.69
2001 4,765 3.43
2002 5,536 4.03
2003 6,034 4.29

Our people

Headcount breakdown as at 31 December 2003

MNV Darasun ZBZP Novo Mayskoye Other Total

Underground mining 203 459 662
Open pit mining 76 11 87
Plant 215 63 278
Heavy trucks 53 8 61
Other transportation 138 114 2 254
Other indirect 646 429 73 1,148
Administration 75 73 34 7 1 120 310
TOTAL 1,406 1,157 34 82 1 120 2,800



Health, Safety and the
Environment Social responsibility
The Group recognises that sound
environmental management policies,
social acceptance and community
sustainability are essential to the
success of the Group. The Group is
dedicated to the economic production
of gold in the safest and most
environmentally sound manner.

Health and Safety
The Group has designed and
implemented policies and
international reporting to minimise
accidents in the workplace. In 2003 at
MNV, 743 employees out of a total of
1,406 have been trained in new
Health and Safety measures.

As a result the total number of
accidents at MNV has decreased to
17 in 2003 from 22 in 2002. Total
down time due to accidents
amounted to 2,649 man-hours.
Unfortunately this year there was a
fatal accident, the first in 5 years,
which has been fully investigated.

At Darasun, where extensive mine
preparation and mill construction
activities have taken place, there
were 8 accidents in 2003.

The Group is taking measures to limit
absenteeism and sickness leave and
has launched medical campaigns at
both MNV and Darasun. 

Environment
The environmental track record and
commitment to comply with Russian
regulatory requirements, which are
rigorous by international standards,
has been maintained.

In 2003, the Group spent a total of
US$1.5 million on environmental
protection measures at MNV. This
included consolidating and levelling
the tailing dumps, refurbishing the
production heating plant, enlarging
the mining water treatment plant,
replacing gas purifying equipment and
replacing recycled water pipelines.

During the ordinary course of business,
various Federal and Regional
environmental state control entities
carried out 8 inspections at MNV in
2003. These resulted in 38 directives
and recommendations, the majority of
which have been implemented.

Three of the mines are located near
the mining villages of
Mnogovershinnoe, Darasun and
Novoshirokinsykoye, with populations
of 4,000, 7,500 and 1,300 inhabitants
respectively. 

The Group understands the need to
improve the quality of life of its
employees and their families and
contributes to projects in the
community. The Group has
sponsored various projects at MNV
and Darasun, mainly related to
sports and childrens activities.
Activities will be sponsored and
budgeted for when other projects
come on stream.

Ivan Koulakov
Managing Director
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Summary
In 2003 the Group increased
production at MNV. Helped by the
gold price, revenues reached
US$71.6 million, operating 
profit - US$27.9 million and net
profit after tax - US$18.0 million.
There was strong growth in the
Group’s balance sheet bringing the
Group’s total asset level to almost
US$200 million. At the end of 2003
the Group’s market capitalisation
had risen to US$590 million.

Gold Sales
The Group sells all its gold on the
domestic market to Russian banks at
London market spot prices, less
commissions. In 2003 the Group
continued to implement a no hedge
policy in relation to gold sales and
realised an average sale price, net of
commissions, of US$363 per oz
compared with the average London
market spot price of US$366 per oz.
In the first half of 2003 the Group
sold 89,000 oz of gold realising
US$31.4 million compared with
88,000 oz of gold in the second half of
2002 and US$27.4 million. In the
second half of 2003 the Group sold
104,000 oz and realised US$40.2
million. In 2003 the Group continued
its growth pattern and reached the
production target of 194,000 oz with
total revenues of US$71.6 million.

Cost of Sales
Cost of Sales represents costs that
are directly attributable to production
and include 28% labour, 32%
materials and spare parts, 12%
depreciation, 14% production taxes
and 14% other direct expenses and
overheads. The administrative
expenses represent both indirect
production overheads and corporate
expenses not related to production.
In 2003 the Gold Institute standards
for the calculation of costs per oz
was implemented. All production
costs and overheads are included
after adjusting for any corporate
expenses and movements in
accounting provisions.

PRODUCTION AND SALES COST STRUCTURE

Sales (USD ths)
Production (oz)

2H 2002 2H 20031H 2003

87,281

27,420

90,133

31,379

103,867

40,199

FY 2003

194,000

71,578 28%

32%

14%

14%

12%

28% Labour
32% Materials and spare parts
12% Depreciation
14% Production taxes
14% Direct overheads



Operating costs
The cash operating costs per tonne
increased in the second half from
US$152 per oz to US$166 per oz with
an average for the year of US$159
per oz. The cost of materials per oz
increased in the second half. This
was because of the annual
performance bonus paid and
seasonality in supplies. Most of the
supplies are shipped to the mine
during the summer months and start
to be consumed in the autumn. With
inflation in prices, more expensive
materials were used for production in
the second half. The increase in cash
cost per oz in the second half of the
year is affected by the nature of the
inflation in Russia which is normally
much higher in the second half than

in the first. Total cash costs include
operating cash costs plus royalty and
other production taxes. The royalty
that is paid is 6% of turnover and
increased from US$20.8 per oz in the
first half to US$22.7 per oz in the
second half, giving an average of
US$21.8 per oz in 2003. Other
production taxes have been stable
during the year at US$3.3 per oz.
Total production costs include
depreciation on top of total cash
costs. The depreciation increased
from US$21.9 per oz in the first half
to US$23.3 per oz in the second half
bringing the average depreciation per
oz in 2003 to US$22.7 per oz. As
announced in September 2003, the
Group completed the purchase of
MNV assets, which it previously
leased, in an auction for US$26.7
million. These assets started to be
amortised in October 2003, which
resulted in an increase in
depreciation expense.

Operating profit
In 2003 the Group had one operating
mine which generated US$27.9
million of operating profit and
US$32.3 million cash before tax and
changes in working capital. In the
same period the Group paid US$5.3
million of profits tax and US$2.0
million of interest. The majority of the
bank borrowings has been used to
finance construction of Darasun,
Mayskoye and the MNV asset
acquisitions, the interest is fully
expensed and represents a US$3.8
million charge to the profit and loss
account. No interest expense has
been capitalised in the 2003 accounts.

Profit before tax totalled US$24.6
million in 2003 compared to US$7.2
million for the six month period in
2002. In the second half of 2003 the
Group generated US$12.9 million
profit before tax compared to
US$11.7 million generated in the first
half of the year. The increase in the
gold price in the second half of the
year, which resulted in greater
revenues, was partly off set by an
increase in production costs and
administrative expenses. 
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From its establishment in May 2002
to 31 December 2002, the Group
earned US$8.9 million of profit after
tax and declared US$1.1 million in
dividends, resulting in a brought
forward retained earnings figure of
US$6.1 million. In 2003 the Group
tripled the retained earnings
generating US$18.0 million of profit
after tax, paying an interim dividend
of 1.5 cents per share and declaring
a final dividend of 1.5 cents per
share, totalling US$3.5 million 
and resulting in US$20.6 million
retained earnings.

In 2003 the Group almost doubled its
total assets from US$103 million at
31 December 2002 to US$196 million
at 31 December 2003 through the
construction of new mines and the
acquisition of new assets. Fixed
assets increased by US$94.2 million,
representing Darasun construction of
US$20.3 million, developments at
MNV of US$32.3 million (including
the purchase of Khabarovsk
Administration assets for US$26.7
million), increase in fair value of
US$44.4 million (including Mayskoye
purchase of US$35.3 million) and
other increases to fixed assets of
US$1.6 million and a depreciation
charge of US$4.4 million.

Current assets increased by 14%
from US$51.3 million at 31 December
2002 to US$58.5 million at 31
December 2003. The Group has to
maintain sufficient levels of working
capital to ensure the smooth
operation of existing mines and the
timely development of new deposits.
Consequently the Group doubled its
inventory levels to US$27.8 million at
31 December 2003 (US$13.3 million
at 31 December 2002). 

Recoverable Value Added Tax (VAT)
increased during the year by US$4.8
million. The majority of purchases of
goods and services are taxed at 20%
VAT (changed to 18% since 1 January
2004), which can be recovered from
the federal tax authorities on average
within six months after purchase.
VAT on construction costs cannot be
recovered until the construction is
completed and the deposit starts
production. As a result, VAT
recoverable relating to the
construction of Darasun (US$4.9
million) remains in the Group’s
Balance Sheet and will be reclaimed
shortly after production starts 
in 2004.

Russian Federation gold sales attract
a zero rate of VAT, so there is no VAT
payable recorded on the Group
Balance Sheet.

Current liabilities at 31 December
2003 totalled US$76.5 million and
include US$49.9 million of short-
term bank borrowings, which are
refinanced and rolled forward. The
net current assets of the Group fell
from US$27.0 million to a net current
liability of US$18.0 million. The
increase in long-term assets was
mostly financed by short-term
borrowings. In 2003 the Group
obtained its first medium-term loan
of US$40.0 million, the long-term
portion of which at 31 December
2003 comprised US$15.9 million. 

In 2003 the Group acquired 100% of
the Mayskoye deposit in Chukotka for
US$34.9 million. The first instalment
of US$11.9 million was paid in 2003
and financed via a short-term loan.
The second instalment payable of
US$11.5 million is due in September
2004. The third instalment payable of
US$11.5 million is included in non-
current liabilities and payable in
September 2005. 
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The net debt of the Group includes
cash at bank, bank borrowings and
long-term lease payable. The net
debt totalled US$66.4 million
compared to a net cash position of
US$2.3 million at the beginning of
the year. This is predominantly as a
result of increased borrowings. After
year-end the Group received US$40.0
million of proceeds, before expenses,
from a new share issue, part of which
has been used to repay US$29.0
million of current debt. The effects of
this transaction on the year end
balance sheet are shown in the
proforma results on page 48 of this
report. In particular the transaction
brought net current liabilities of
US$18.0 million to net current assets
of US$22.0 million.

In 2004 the Group will look for
additional sources of funding to
supplement operating cash flows to
finance its rapid development. Total
Group capital expenditure for 2004
including acquisition payment for
Mayskoye is projected to be US$82.0
million (based on the existing
Mayskoye mine plan which envisaged
a throughput of 550,000 tonnes a
year).

Currently the Group borrows in the
Russian market for a period of up to
two years on a rolling basis at an
average interest rate of 8.5% p.a. In
2004 the Group intends to broaden its
sources of funding and will consider
long-term international finance,
project finance and the Russian
corporate bond market. The 2004
Barrick transaction significantly
improved the Balance Sheet adding
US$40.0 million to the Group’s equity. 

With stable production at the MNV
mine, Darasun coming on stream in
May 2004, existing finance facilities
and the increase in equity, the Group
is well positioned to manage its
funding requirements for capital
expenditure in 2004. The Group has
existing bank facilities of US$35.0
million and is at an advanced stage of
discussions with a number of banks
and international financing agencies
in relation to securing a further
US$60.0 million of borrowing
facilities.

Denis Alexandrov
Finance Director

NET DEBT STRUCTURE
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1 Peter Daresbury
2 Ivan Koulakov
3 Dmitri Korobov
4 Gennady Nevidomi
5 Denis Alexandrov
6 Duncan Baxter
7 James Cross 
8 Christopher Palmer-Tomkinson

1 4 7

2 5 8

3 6



EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Peter Daresbury - 
Executive Chairman 
Peter Daresbury, MA, DL (50), 
a graduate of Cambridge and 
London Business School, joined
Greenalls Group plc in 1977. He
became a director in 1984, managing
director in 1993 and chief executive 
in 1996. He is non-executive
chairman of De Vere Group plc. 
He is also non-executive chairman 
of Aintree Racecourse Ltd.

Ivan Koulakov - 
Managing Director 
Ivan Koulakov (35) graduated as a
Mechanical Engineer from the
Moscow State Technical University
(Baumann) and as an economist
from the Department of Finance and
Banking at the Financial Academy 
of Government of the Russian
Federation. He became Chairman 
of ZAO Oil Finance, a company of the
Sibneft group, in 1995, then 
Chairman of ZAO MNV in 1998. 
Since then he has led the
management team in the development
of MNV and the expansion into further
development projects.

Dmitri Korobov - 
Commercial Director 
Dmitri Korobov (32) graduated as a
Mechanical Engineer from the
Moscow State Technical University
(Bauman).  He became deputy
general director of ZAO Oil Finance in
1997 and then a director of ZAO MNV
in 1998. Since that time he has been
instrumental in the development of
ZAO MNV and is now General
Director of RDM, the company which
manages the group's Russian
operations in Moscow.

Gennady Nevidomi - 
Production Director 
Gennady Nevidomi (32) graduated as
a Mechanical Engineer from the
Moscow State Technical University
(Bauman). He was head of the
analytical department of ZAO Oil
Finance from 1997 until 2000 when
he was appointed head of the
Moscow office of ZAO MNV.  In 2003,
he was appointed a Deputy General
Director of RDM and is responsible
for planning and production at the
Group’s mining operations.

Denis Alexandrov - 
Finance Director
Denis Alexandrov (29) graduated
from both the University of Maryland
and Russia’s Far Eastern State
University, where he studied Global
Economic Relations and
Management. He qualified as an
accountant and is a member of the
Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (ACCA). He spent five
years with PricewaterhouseCoopers’
Natural Resources Group before
joining Crown Resources AG
(London), a subsidiary of Alfa Group.
He was appointed Finance Director in
October 2003. 

Duncan Baxter - 
Corporate Affairs Director 
Duncan Baxter (52) began his career
in banking with Barclays
International in Zimbabwe before
joining Rhodesian Acceptances
Limited in 1978. In 1985 he became a
director of Commercial Bank (Jersey)
Ltd, which was acquired by Swiss
Bank Corporation in 1988 and
became Managing Director. Since
leaving SBC in 1998 he has carried
out a number of consultancy projects
for international banks and
investment management companies.
He is a Fellow of the Institute of
Chartered Secretaries, the Securities
Institute and the Institute of Bankers.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

James Cross 
James Cross (54) graduated from the
faculty of commerce at the University
of  Witwatersrand. He has been
involved in banking since 1968.
Appointed head of trading for UBS in
London in 1985, he returned to South
Africa in 1987 as General Manager of
the South African Reserve Bank,
responsible for marketing all of
South Africa’s gold production. 
He became deputy governor in 1997
and senior deputy governor in 1999.
Since retiring from the bank he has
pursued various consultancy roles.
He is a Fellow of the Institute of
Bankers in South Africa.

Christopher Palmer-Tomkinson
Christopher Palmer-Tomkinson (60)
graduated from Oxford University
with a degree in jurisprudence and
joined Cazenove in 1963. He served
as a partner from 1972 until 2001
and as a managing director of
corporate finance until May 2002. He
was responsible at various times for
Cazenove’s African & Australasian
businesses, which enabled him to
focus on the resources sector. He is a
director of Henderson Electric and
General Trust plc.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors of Highland Gold Mining Limited have pleasure in submitting their Report together with the audited
Annual Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2003.

Overview
Highland Gold Mining Limited (“Highland Gold” or the “Company”) was incorporated in Jersey on 23 May 2002 for the
principal activity of building a portfolio of gold mining operations within the Russian Federation. These activities, group
structure and operating companies are described more fully in the section on page 49 of this report. The Chairman’s
Statement, the Operating Review and Financial Review explain in detail the business developments during 2003 and
the future prospects.

Results and Dividends
The overview of the Group’s results for the period to 31 December 2003 are given in the Financial Review on page 14
of this report.

The Directors, as outlined in the Admission Document to AIM, intended to pursue a progressive dividend policy whilst
taking a prudent view of the Group’s cash flows and capital requirements. The Directors are mindful of the growth
aspects of the Group and may therefore review the dividend policy later in 2004. In November 2003 the Directors
approved the payment of an interim dividend of US$ 0.015 per share. The Directors recommend a final dividend in
respect of the twelve month period ended 31 December 2003 of US$0.015 per share. Subject to the approval of
shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the final dividend will be paid on 4 June 2004, to
shareholders on the Company’s register at the close of business on 30 April 2004.

Accounting Policies
Highland Gold’s consolidated Annual Accounts are presented in accordance with UK GAAP with the US dollar as its
principal functional and reporting currency.

Directors’ Shareholdings
The interests of the Directors, and of persons connected with them, in the ordinary shares of the Company as at 
31 December 2003, are as follows:

Director Ordinary shares %

Lord Daresbury 1,800,000 1.63

Ivan Koulakov 22,367,500 20.24

Christopher Palmer-Tomkinson 510,962 0.46

James Cross 250,000 0.23

Duncan Baxter 10,000 0.01

The Directors had entered into arrangements in respect of their shareholdings whereby they had each agreed in
respect of themselves and their related parties not to dispose of any interest in Ordinary Shares before 31 December
2003. Those arrangements have now expired.

The Directors are not now prevented from buying and selling shares with the exception of Ivan Koulakov who has
agreed not to dispose of any of his shareholdings and related party shareholdings until 31 December 2004. Buying and
selling by any of the Directors requires market disclosure under the AIM rules. The Company has adopted a share
dealing code for Directors and relevant employees.

Report on Directors’ Remuneration
Remuneration of Executive Directors currently comprises basic salary and bonus. In addition, since December 2003, a
Long Term Incentive Plan has been considered and includes stock appreciation rights and other benefits for Executive
Directors and other key personnel in Russia.

The Company previously advised that it had intended to implement a share option scheme. Whilst this is still open for
consideration in the future, the Directors have determined, in light of regulatory and planning aspects, to implement
an annual stock appreciation right (SARs) scheme. Under the terms of the scheme, Directors are granted SARs, with



the number of SARs granted being based on a multiple (range of 0.5 to 1.5) of salary, divided by the twenty-day
average of the share price to 1 December of the year the SAR is granted (the grant price of the SAR).

After three years following the granting of the SAR, the Directors then have 13 months to exercise their SARs, and
either receive a cash payment, or reinvest the proceeds in further SARs (the date of reinvestment is limited to
1 December in any year within the 13 month exercise limit). The cash entitlement is calculated with reference to the
difference between the grant price of the SAR and the share price on the day the SAR is exercised.

The scheme is at the sole discretion of the Remuneration Committee. The first scheme was implemented on
1 December 2003 at a price of 255.50 pence per share. Certain administrative formalities are still to be concluded.

The remuneration paid to the Directors in the financial period to 31 December 2003 was as follows:

The highest paid Director was Ivan Koulakov (US$341,904). The total remuneration of the six Executive Directors was
US$1,206,455 and the total remuneration of the four Non Executive Directors was US$204,967.

The Group has entered into certain agreements with:

• Lord Daresbury commencing on 18 June 2002. Lord Daresbury’s salary is reviewed annually by the Company’s
Remuneration Committee. Lord Daresbury may terminate the agreement by giving 12 months’ notice in writing.
The Company may terminate the agreement either by giving 12 months’ notice in writing or a payment of 12
months’ salary in lieu of notice equivalent to such period of notice together with any bonus payable.

• Mr Ivan Koulakov commencing on 18 June 2002. Mr Koulakov’s salary is reviewed annually by the Company’s
Remuneration Committee. Mr Koulakov may terminate the agreement by giving 12 months’ notice in writing. The
Company may terminate the agreement either by giving 12 months’ notice in writing, or a payment of 12 months’
salary in lieu of notice equivalent to such period of notice together with any bonus payable. On termination Mr
Koulakov has covenanted with the Company that he will not directly or indirectly seek to procure orders from or
do business with any individual, firm or company who has done business with the Company during the period of
1 year preceding termination or endeavour to entice away any of the Company’s employees employed by the
Company during the period of 1 year immediately preceding such termination. Mr Koulakov has also entered into
a labour contract with the Company’s subsidiary, RDM, for a term of 2 years in respect of his services as the
head of the management team of the Group’s business in Russia.

• Mr Duncan Baxter commencing on 8 December 2002. Mr Baxter’s salary is reviewed annually by the Company’s
Remuneration Committee. Mr Baxter may terminate the agreement by giving 6 months’ notice in writing. The
Company may terminate the agreement either by giving 6 month’s notice in writing, or a payment of 6 month’s
salary in lieu of notice equivalent to such period of notice together with any bonus payable. 

• Mr Dmitry Korobov commencing 22 May 2003. Mr Korobov’s salary is reviewed annually by the Company’s
Remuneration Committee. Mr Korobov may terminate the agreement by giving 12 months’ notice in writing. The
Company may terminate the agreement either by giving12 months’ notice in writing or a payment of 12 months’
salary in lieu of notice equivalent to such period of notice together with any bonus payable. Mr Korobov has also
entered into a labour contract with the Company’s subsidiary, RDM, in respect of his services as General Director
of RDM.

• Mr Gennady Nevidomi commencing 22 May 2003. Mr Nevidomi’s salary is reviewed annually by the Company’s
Remuneration Committee. Mr Nevidomi may terminate the agreement by giving 12 months’ notice in writing. The
Company may terminate the agreement either by giving 12 months’ notice in writing or a payment of 12 months’
salary in lieu of notice equivalent to such period of notice together with any bonus payable. Mr Nevidomi has also
entered into a labour contract with the Company’s subsidiary, RDM, in respect of his services as First Deputy
General Director (Operations) of RDM.
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• Mr Denis Alexandrov commencing 13 October 2003. Mr Alexandrov’s salary is reviewed annually by the
Company’s Remuneration Committee. Mr Alexandrov may terminate the agreement by giving 12 months’ notice
in writing. The Company may terminate the agreement either by giving 12 months’ notice in writing or a payment
of 12 months’ salary in lieu of notice equivalent to such period of notice together with any bonus payable.
Mr Alexandrov has also entered into a labour contract with the Company’s subsidiary, RDM, in respect of his
services as Deputy General Director (Finance) of RDM.

• Non Executive Directors’ – their contracts, which had an initial fixed term until 31 December 2003, have been
renewed by the Board and will continue on an annual basis.

Corporate Governance
The Directors support the principles of good governance. Whilst not mandatory for an AIM company, the Directors
have implemented, where practicable for a company of this size and nature, the main provisions of the principles of
good governance and code of best practice under the Combined Code and are reviewing the requirements under the
New Combined Code.

The Board has also considered the guidance published by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales concerning the internal control requirements of the Combined Code, in line with the Turnbull Report. The Board
regularly intends to review key business risks in addition to the financial risks facing the Group in the operations of its
business.

The Board
The Board currently has eight directors of which two are non-executive and it is intended to appoint a further non-
executive. The Company had and will seek to retain three or more Non-Executive Directors to bring an independent
outlook to the Board and to provide a balance to the Executive Directors. The profiles of the Non-Executive and
Executive Directors are to be found on page 19 of this report.

The Chairman is an Executive Chairman, which the Board regards as appropriate whilst the Company is in its infancy
and can draw on his considerable skill, expertise and experience.

The Board has determined and formalised matters reserved for its consideration and where appropriate have
delegated certain matters under a chart of authority to Board appointed committees. The Board meets on a regular
basis to review the performance of the Group, ensure that funding needs are appropriate, consider development and
acquisition opportunities and where appropriate the Directors have full access to the Company Secretary and
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee consists of the Non-Executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Cross. It is responsible for
ensuring that the appropriate financial reporting procedures are properly maintained and reported upon, and for
meeting the auditors and reviewing their reports relating to the accounts and internal control systems. The
Committee meets on a regular basis and intends to meet no less than twice a year. The Audit Committee is
responsible for monitoring key risks and has implemented through the internal audit department a process of
reporting on and monitoring those risks.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee consists of the Non-Executive Directors, is chaired by Mr. Palmer-Tomkinson and
includes the Chairman of the Board. It is responsible for reviewing the performance of the Executive Directors and,
where appropriate, other senior executives, and for determining their appropriate levels of remuneration.

Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee consists of the Chairman of the Board and the Non-Executive Directors to decide upon
the appointment of senior management and directors to Group companies. The Nominations Committee is chaired by
Mr. Palmer-Tomkinson in addition to his role as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.



Health and Safety Committee
The Board has established a Health and Safety Committee to be chaired by a non-executive director. The terms of
reference are still being considered.

Other Committees
In addition, the Group management company, OOO Russdragmet (“RDM”), in Russia has established a risk and control
platform through the:

RDM Board
The Board of the management company meets monthly and prepares strategic and investment decisions for the
Board of Directors. It is chaired by Ivan Koukalov and includes the most senior executives of RDM.

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee meets weekly. The members include management of RDM functional departments and the
General Directors of the mine sites and is chaired by Dmitri Korobov the General Director of RDM and Commercial
Director of the Group. Its role is to ensure the implementation of decisions taken by the Group boards and
committees, to manage the day to day operational activities and to make recommendations to the Board of RDM. It
delegates part of its duties to three internal RDM committees; the Risk Committee; Budget Committee and
Investment Committee.

Internal Controls
The Directors have overall responsibility for the Group’s internal control and effectiveness and in safeguarding the
assets of the Group. Internal control systems are designed to reflect the particular type of business, operations and
safety risks and to identify and manage risks, but not entirely all risks to which the business is exposed. As a result
internal controls can only provide a reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatements or loss.
The Group is making good progress in the development of the appropriate processes for identifying, evaluating and
managing risks faced by the Group for regular review by the Board. The processes used by the Board to review the
effectiveness of the internal controls are through the Audit Committee and the executive management reporting to the
Board on a regular basis where business plans and budgets are appraised and agreed. The Board is also at liberty to
engage independent professional advice on risk assessment matters. It is the Board’s policy to ensure that the
management structure and the quality and integrity of the personnel are compatible with the requirements of the
Group.

Relations with Shareholders
One of the Board’s main objectives is to establish a constructive dialogue with shareholders and with the financial
markets at large to present an accurate picture of corporate performance and prospects so as to allow the investment
community to determine a realistic valuation for the Company.

During 2003, the first year as a quoted company, some major initiatives have been undertaken that have contributed 
to raising the profile of the Group. The Group’s website has been launched describing the business, results and
personnel and is used for updating shareholders and the market with key developments and announcements 
(www.highlandgold.com). During the year the Company has made a number of presentations at seminars and visited
major shareholders and investment analysts.

Shareholders are encouraged to use the Annual General Meeting as a forum in which to participate.

Going concern
The Directors believe that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements as,
having made suitable enquiries, the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future.

Auditors
A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
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Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at 12.00 pm on Thursday 20 May 2004 at the De Vere Grand Hotel,
Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey JE4 8WD. The notice convening the Annual General Meeting is as set out on page 64 of
this Report.

The following special business will be conducted at the meeting:

Authority to Allot Shares and Disapplication of Pre-Emption Rights
A Special Resolution (set out as Resolution 8 in the Notice of Annual General Meeting) will be proposed to empower
the Directors to allot up to 33% of the authorised but unissued share capital of the Company comprising 180,161,740
Ordinary Shares without having to obtain prior approval from shareholders on each occasion and to allot these
Ordinary Shares without being first required to offer such shares to existing shareholders. The authority, when given,
will expire at the conclusion of the third anniversary after this year’s Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ Responsibility Statement
The Directors are required to prepare accounts for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group and of the profit and loss of the Group for that period. In preparing those
accounts, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and have applied them consistently. They have
made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent and have stated whether applicable accounting
standards have been followed. The Directors have prepared the accounts on the going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept, which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and Group and to enable them to ensure that the accounts
comply with the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, as amended. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of
the Company and Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

The Directors acknowledge that their responsibility to present a balanced and understandable assessment extends to
interim and other price sensitive public reports.

By Order of the Board

Duncan Baxter
Director

19 April 2004



AUDITORS’ REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF HIGHLAND GOLD MINING LIMITED

We have audited the Group’s Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2003 which comprise the
Consolidated Profit and Loss Account, Consolidated Balance Sheet, Company Balance Sheet, Consolidated Cash Flow
Statement, Consolidated Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses and the related notes 1 to 31. These
financial statements have been prepared on the basis of the accounting policies set out therein.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Article 110 of the Companies
(Jersey) Law 1991, as amended. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, including the financial statements, which are required
to be prepared in accordance with applicable Jersey law, and accounting standards as set out in the Statement of
Directors’ Responsibilities in relation to the Financial Statements.

Our responsibility is to audit the Financial Statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements,
United Kingdom Auditing Standards.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Financial Statements give a true and fair view and whether the
financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, as amended.
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the Directors’ Report is not consistent with the Financial Statements, if the
company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit, or if information specified by law or the AIM Listing Rules regarding Directors’ remuneration and
transactions with the Group is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited
Financial Statements. This other information comprises the Directors’ Report, Chairman’s Statement, Operating
Review and Financial Review. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any
other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with United Kingdom Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices
Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
Financial Statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the
Directors in the preparation of the Financial Statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Financial Statements
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we
also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the Financial Statements.

Opinion

In our opinion:
• the Financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31

December 2003 and of the profit of the Group for the year then ended; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, as amended.

Ernst & Young LLP
Registered Auditor, London
19 April 2004



CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

6 months ended 
12 months ended 31 December 2002 

31 December 2003 Restated 
Notes US$000 US$000

Turnover 2 71,578 27,420

Cost of sales 3 (35,400) (17,571)

GROSS PROFIT 36,178 9,849

Administrative costs (8,286) (3,479)

GROUP OPERATING PROFIT 27,892 6,370

Bank interest receivable 323 41

Gain on renegotiation of loan – 2,032

Interest payable and similar charges 5 (3,846) (1,192)

Foreign exchange gains/(losses) 263 (59)

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION 24,632 7,192

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 6 (6,583) (1,840)

PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD 18,049 5,352

Dividends 20 (3,456) (1,105)

PROFIT RETAINED FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD 14,593 4,247

RETAINED EARNINGS BROUGHT FORWARD 6,067 1,820

RETAINED EARNINGS CARRIED FORWARD 20,660 6,067

Basic earnings per share (US$) 23 0.163 0.052

Diluted earnings per share (US$) 23 0.163 0.052

There is no material difference between the reported profit and the historical cost profit for the period to 31 December 2003.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES

6 months ended 
12 months ended 31 December 2002 

31 December 2003 Restated 
US$000 US$000

Profit before dividends for the period attributable to members of the parent company and total recognised

gains and losses relating to the period 18,049 5,352

Prior year adjustment (as explained in Note 1) (1,744)

TOTAL GAINS AND LOSSES RECOGNISED SINCE LAST ANNUAL REPORT 16,305
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

At 31 December 2002
At 31 December 2003 Restated

Notes US$000 US$000

FIXED ASSETS

Intangible assets – negative goodwill 8 (8,074) –

Tangible assets 7 146,017 51,779

137,943 51,779

CURRENT ASSETS

Stocks 9 27,811 13,355

Debtors 10 23,609 10,931

Deferred costs 1,751 501

Cash at bank and in hand 5,361 26,525

58,532 51,312

CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year 11 (76,517) (24,242)

NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (17,985) 27,070

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 119,958 78,849

CREDITORS: amounts falling due after more than one year 12 (30,734) (8,570)

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES 13 (12,222) (8,872)

MINORITY INTERESTS - EQUITY (1,445) (482)

75,557 60,925

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Called up share capital 18 162 162

Share premium 19 54,735 54,696

Profit and loss account 19 20,660 6,067

75,557 60,925

Approved by the Board on 19 April 2004.

The Lord Daresbury Ivan Koulakov
Chairman Managing Director



COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

At 31 December 2003 At 31 December 2002
Notes US$000 US$000

FIXED ASSETS

Investments 28 30,722 30,901

30,722 30,901

CURRENT ASSETS

Debtors 29 27,241 1,814

Cash at bank and in hand 678 25,933

27,919 27,747

CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year 30 (3,727) (3,770)

NET CURRENT ASSETS 24,192 23,977

NET ASSETS 54,914 54,878

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Called up share capital 18 162 162

Share premium 31 54,735 54,696

Profit and loss account 31 17 20

54,914 54,878

Loss for the year for the Company after dividends payable was US$3,000.

Approved by the Board on 19 April 2004.

The Lord Daresbury Ivan Koulakov
Chairman Managing Director
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

6 months ended
12 months ended 31 December 2002

31 December 2003 Restated
Notes US$000 US$000

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 22(a) 32,743 7,751

Changes in working capital 22(a) (25,141) (801)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 22(a) 7,602 6,950

RETURNS ON INVESTMENT AND SERVICING OF FINANCE

Interest received 323 41

Interest paid on bank loans (1,573) (686)

Interest paid on finance leases (786) –

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM RETURNS ON INVESTMENT AND SERVICING OF FINANCE (2,036) (645)

TAXATION

Russian profits tax paid (5,339) (3,913)

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCIAL INVESTMENT

Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets (56,883) (8,350)

Receipts from sale of tangible fixed assets – 350

Payments to acquire investments – (541)

Receipts from repayment of investments – 768

NET CASH OUTFLOW ON CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCIAL INVESTMENT (56,883) (7,773)

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Purchase of subsidiary undertakings 8 (11,986) (2,430)

Net cash acquired with subsidiary undertakings 8 401 –

NET CASH OUTFLOW ON ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS (11,585) (2,430)

Equity dividends (2,763) –

NET CASH OUTFLOW BEFORE FINANCING (71,004) (7,811)

FINANCING

Issue of ordinary share capital – 31,838

Share issue costs – (7,045)

Net change in short term loans 14,733 8,932

Receipt of long term loans 40,000 –

Loan arrangement fees (540) –

Repayment of long term loan (2,663) –

Repayment of capital element of finance leases (1,738) (1,379)

CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING 49,792 32,346

(DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH (21,212) 24,535

RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT

(Decrease)/increase in cash (21,212) 24,535

Repayment of capital element of finance leases 1,738 1,379

Movements in loans (51,530) (8,932)

MOVEMENTS IN NET DEBT ARISING FROM CASH FLOWS (71,004) 16,982

Re-negotiation of loan – 2,032

Other movement in long term payables 832 –

Disposal of lease liability 4,338 –

New finance leases and other (2,962) (585)

Exchange differences 48 208

MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT (68,748) 18,637

NET CASH/(DEBT) AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 2,311 (16,326)

NET (DEBT)/CASH AT END OF PERIOD 22(b) (66,437) 2,311



NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Accounting policies
Basis of consolidation
The Financial Statements present the accounts of Highland Gold Mining Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiary
undertakings, (the “Group”) drawn up for the year ended 31 December 2003. The results of subsidiaries acquired are
consolidated for the periods from the date on which control passes. On the acquisition of a subsidiary, or an associate,
fair values reflecting conditions at the date of acquisition are attributed to the identifiable net assets acquired.

Basis of preparation and change in accounting policy
These Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with
applicable United Kingdom accounting standards.

During the 12 months to 31 December 2003, Highland Gold has changed its accounting policy with respect to costs
associated with the stripping of waste from the open pit mine. Stripping costs are deferred or expensed based on the
ratio of waste to ore. Previously, such costs were capitalised and depreciated on a unit of production basis. This
change brings the accounting policy in line with that more commonly followed within the industry and has resulted in
a prior year adjustment for the Group. At 31 December 2002, tangible fixed assets have been reduced by US$4.1
million, deferred stripping costs of US$0.5 million are included within current assets and the deferred taxation liability
has decreased by US$1.9 million. The operating profit for the six months to 31 December 2002 has reduced by US$2.2
million and the taxation charge has reduced by US$0.5 million.

In all other respects, the Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out
in Highland Gold Mining Limited’s Financial Statements for the six month period to 31 December 2002.

Russian political and economic risks
Over the past decade Russia has undergone substantial political, economic and social changes. As an emerging
market, Russia does not possess a fully developed business and regulatory infrastructure that would generally exist in
a more mature market economy. The current Government is attempting to address these issues; however, it has not
yet fully implemented the reforms necessary to create banking, judicial and regulatory systems that usually exist in
more developed markets. As a result, and as reflected in the Government’s debt default and rouble devaluation in
1998, operations in Russia involve risks that are not typically associated with those in more developed markets. Such
risks persist in the current environment with results that include but are not limited to, a currency that is not freely
convertible outside of the country, various currency controls, low liquidity levels for debt and equity markets, and
continuing inflation. Furthermore, substantially all privatisations in Russia in the early 1990s were flawed in some
manner, and even the most minor and administrative flaw in the privatisation documents may be invoked as a basis
for challenging the validity of the privatisation process as a whole and thus the title to assets acquired as a result of
privatisation. The environment is such that the state, local authorities and administration, the former owners of
property and other interested parties can attempt to obstruct normal business operations of a company. Accordingly,
the stability and success of the Russian economy, and the Group’s business, will depend upon the Government’s ability
to institute supervisory, judicial and other regulatory reforms.
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Foreign currency
These Financial Statements use the United States dollar (“US$”) as the functional and reporting currency by
translating all transactions into dollars at the historic exchange rate, and by retranslating monetary assets and
liabilities into dollars at the current rate at each balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the profit and loss
account. The accounting records of the Company’s trading subsidiary undertakings are maintained in local currencies.
The following exchange rates have been applied:

The principal exchange rates against US dollars were:

12 months ended 6 months ended
31 December 2003 31 December 2002

Average

RUR 30.68 31.67

GBP 0.612 0.641

Closing

RUR 29.45 31.78

GBP 0.563 0.624

Turnover
Revenue is recognised when the legal title of the asset sold is transferred. Sales revenue represents proceeds
receivable from the customer, net of value added tax (VAT) and sales discounts.

Cost of sales
Cost of sales represents material cost, determined by the weighted average method, and by applying full absorption
costing, plus any other costs directly attributable to the acquisition of materials as well as manufacturing overheads.

Investments
Investments, other than investments in subsidiaries and associates, are measured at cost less any impairment losses.

Goodwill
In an acquisition, the excess of fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired over the consideration paid, is
accounted for as negative goodwill. This negative goodwill is then amortised on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of the assets acquired.

Other financial assets
Other financial assets originated by the Group are stated at cost less a provision for doubtful debts.

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets comprise mainly mining assets including mineral rights, development expenditure, shafts,
buildings, equipment, vehicles and incremental unavoidable costs. Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation.

Mineral properties and mine development expenditure
Once a mining project has been established as commercially viable, expenditure other than that on buildings, plant
and equipment is capitalised under mineral properties and mine development expenditure account.

Interest on borrowings to specifically finance the establishment of mining assets is capitalised until commercial levels
of production are achieved.

Mineral properties, deferred costs and capitalised interest are, upon commencement of production, amortised using
the unit of production method based on the volumes of proved and probable reserves of ore and are written off if the
property is abandoned.

All existing mine sites are established as commercially viable and hence are included in tangible fixed assets.



NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued

Other tangible assets
The cost of a tangible fixed asset comprises its purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bringing it into
working condition for its intended use. Costs associated with a start up period are capitalised where the asset is
available for use but incapable of operating at normal levels without a commissioning period.

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets, other than mineral properties and mine development expenditure, is calculated
on a straight line basis. Assets are fully depreciated over their economic lives, or over the remaining life of the mine if
shorter. The estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows:

Buildings 17 years

Plant and equipment 7-17 years

Changes in estimates are accounted for over the estimated remaining economic life.

Construction work in progress
Assets in the course of construction are capitalised in the construction work in progress account. On completion, the
cost of construction is transferred to the appropriate category of tangible fixed assets.

No depreciation is charged on assets in the capital work in progress account. These assets are depreciated upon their
transfer to the appropriate category of tangible fixed assets.

Impairment
If the carrying amount of a fixed asset exceeds the recoverable amount, a provision is recorded to reflect the asset at
the lower amount. In assessing recoverable amount for property, plant and equipment and investments, the relevant
future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of such assets and from their disposal have been
discounted to their present value using a market determined, risk-adjusted discount rate.

Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, less any provision for slow moving and obsolete items.
Cost includes all costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition. Stock is categorised as
follows:

• Raw materials and consumables: Materials, goods or supplies to be either directly or indirectly consumed in the
production process.

• Work in progress: Items stored in an intermediate state that have not yet passed through all stages of
production.

• Finished goods: Products and materials that have passed all stages of the manufacturing process.

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred to completion
and disposal.

Deferred stripping costs
Stripping costs incurred during the production phase to remove waste ore are deferred to the balance sheet and
charged to operating costs on the basis of the average life of the mine stripping ratio. The average stripping ratio is
calculated as the number of cubic meters of waste material removed per tonne of ore mined. The average life of the
mine ratio is revised annually in the light of additional knowledge and change in estimates. The cost of “excess
stripping” is deferred at balance sheet when the actual stripping ratio exceeds the average life of the mine stripping
ratio.

Deferred financing costs
Financing costs, incurred on issuance of debt, are deferred and charged against earnings over the term of the
indebtedness except for those capitalised to mineral properties.
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Provisions for liabilities and charges
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation, as a result of past events, and it is probable that
an outflow of resources that can be reliably estimated will be required to settle such obligation.

Environmental protection, rehabilitation and closure costs
Provision is made for close down and restoration and for environmental clean up costs, where there is a legal or
constructive obligation to do so, (which includes the dismantling and demolition of infrastructure, removal of residual
materials and remediation of disturbed areas) in the accounting period when the related environmental disturbance
occurs, based on the estimated future costs. The provision is discounted where material and the unwinding of the
discount is shown as a finance cost in the profit and loss account. At the time of establishing the provision, a
corresponding asset, is capitalised and depreciated on a unit of production basis. The provision is reviewed on an
annual basis for changes in cost estimates or lives of operations.

Deferred taxation
The tax charge is based on the profit for the period and takes into account taxation deferred because of timing
differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance
sheet date, with the exception that deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the directors consider
that it is more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying
timing differences can be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which
timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Leasing and hire purchase commitments
Assets held under finance leases, which are leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset have passed to the Group, and hire purchase contracts, are capitalised in the balance sheet and are depreciated
over their useful lives. The capital elements of future obligations under leases and hire purchase contracts are
included as liabilities in the balance sheet. The interest elements of the rental obligations are charged in the profit and
loss account over the periods of the leases and hire purchase contracts and represent a constant proportion of the
balance of capital repayments outstanding.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged in the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the
lease term.

Pensions
Contributions to the pension funds are expensed as incurred. The Group does not contribute to any defined benefit
pension schemes.

Capital instruments
Shares are included in shareholders’ funds. Other instruments are classified as liabilities if they contain an obligation
to transfer economic benefit and if not they are included in shareholders’ funds.

2. Turnover and segmental analysis
The Group operates in one principal area of activity, that of exploration and production of gold. It also operates within
a single geographical market, being the Russian Federation. All sales are made within the Russian Federation.

There were no discontinued operations during the period. The turnover and other profit and loss amounts relating to
acquisitions are not material.



NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued

3. Cost of sales
6 months ended

12 months ended 31 December 2002
31 December 2003 Restated

US$000 US$000

Operating costs 25,988 14,838

Depreciation depletion and amortisation 4,372 1,381

Taxes other than income tax 5,040 1,352

35,400 17,571

4. Operating profit
Operating profit is stated after charging:

12 months ended 6 months ended
31 December 2003 31 December 2002

US$000 US$000

Group audit 532 321

Fees for other services 17 2,678

549 2,999

6 months ended
12 months ended 31 December 2002

31 December 2003 Restated
US$000 US$000

Depreciation of owned assets 3,254 996

Depreciation of leased assets 1,118 385

Total depreciation charge 4,372 1,381

5. Interest payable and similar charges
12 months ended 6 months ended

31 December 2003 31 December 2002
US$000 US$000

Bank loans 1,748 686

Finance charges payable under finance leases 1,219 253

Unwinding of discount on provisions for liabilities and charges 879 253

3,846 1,192

6. Tax on profit on ordinary activities
(a) Analysis of tax charge in the period

6 months ended
12 months ended 31 December 2002

31 December 2003 Restated
US$000 US$000

Current tax:

Russian profits tax for the period 4,951 2,320

Total current tax (note 6 (b)) 4,951 2,320

Deferred tax:

Adjustment to prior period – (1,662)

Origination and reversal of timing differences 1,632 1,182

Total deferred tax 1,632 (480)

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 6,583 1,840
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(b) Factors affecting tax charge for the period
The differences between the effective provision for Russian profits tax and the statutory tax provision at the statutory
rate is reconciled as follows:

6 months ended
12 months ended 31 December 2002

31 December 2003 Restated
US$000 US$000

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 24,632 7,192

Standard tax rate 24% 24%

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate 5,912 1,726

Effects of:

Deferred tax provided in the Financial Statements (Note 6(a)) (1,632) (1,182)

Unrecognised deferred tax – 2,176

Non deductible expenses 30 107

Effect of foreign exchange differences 63 (117)

Gain on loan renegotiation – (355)

Other permanent differences 578 (35)

Current tax charge for the period 4,951 2,320

(c) Factors affecting tax charges
Russia has a number of laws related to various taxes imposed by both federal and regional governmental authorities.
Applicable taxes include value added tax, corporate income tax (profits tax), a number of turnover based taxes, and
payroll (social) taxes, together with others. In addition, the subsidiaries of the Company are also subject to various
industry taxes including mineral extraction taxes. Laws related to some of these taxes have not been in force for
significant periods, in contrast to more developed market economies; therefore, regulations are often unclear or non-
existent. Accordingly, few precedents with regard to issues have been established. Often, differing opinions regarding
legal interpretation exist both among and within government ministries and organisations (like the Ministry of Taxes
and Levies and various inspectorates); thus creating uncertainties and areas of conflict. Tax declarations, together
with other legal compliance areas (as examples, customs and currency control matters), are subject to review and
investigation by a number of authorities, who are enabled by law to impose extremely severe fines, penalties and
interest charges. These facts create tax risks in Russia substantially more significant than typically found in countries
with more developed tax systems.

Generally, tax declarations remain open and subject to inspection for a period of three years. As of 31 December 2003,
a substantial portion of the tax declarations of the Group have been reviewed through to 31 December 2001.
Management believes that the Group is in substantial compliance with the tax laws affecting its operations; however,
the risk remains that the relevant authorities could take differing positions with regard to interpretative issues and the
effect could be significant. The fact that a year has been reviewed does not close that year, or any tax declaration
applicable to that year, from further review during the three-year period.



NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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7. Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets comprise mining assets:

Mineral properties
and mine 

Freehold Plant and development Construction
buildings equipment expenditure in progress Total

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

Cost:

At 31 December 2002 (restated) 5,956 14,254 23,032 10,324 53,566

Additions 434 7,500 36,235 9,622 53,791

Acquisition of subsidiary – – 35,352 – 35,352

Fair value adjustments – – 9,123 – 9,123

Transfers 309 (145) 4,354 (4,518) –

At 31 December 2003 6,699 21,609 108,096 15,428 151,832

Accumulated depreciation:

At 31 December 2002 (restated) (315) (1,062) (410) – (1,787)

Provided during the period (357) (1,828) (2,187) – (4,372)

Reclassification – 344 – – 344

Transfer – 873 (873) – –

At 31 December 2003 (672) (1,673) (3,470) – (5,815)

Net book value:

At 31 December 2003 6,027 19,936 104,626 15,428 146,017

At 31 December 2002 (restated) 5,641 13,192 22,622 10,324 51,779

The net book value of plant and equipment above includes an amount of US$8,074,000 (at 31 December 2002 -
US$8,632,000), relating to leased assets.

On 16 September 2003, the Group won the auction to acquire the production assets at MNV that it previously leased
from the Khabarovsk administration, for total consideration of US$26.7 million. The related lease liability at the date of
the auction of US$4.3 million was also extinguished as part of this transaction. These amounts are included in
additions to mineral properties and are being amortised on a units of production basis.



8. Investments
Details of the investments in which the Group and the Company controls 20% or more of the nominal value of ordinary
share capital are as follows:

Proportion of
Name of Company Country of incorporation voting rights Nature of Business

Held indirectly via 100% owned subsidiaries
ZAO Mnogovershinnoe (MNV) Russia 100% Gold exploration and production

OOO Darasunsky Rudnik (Darasun) Russia 100% Gold exploration and production

OAO Novoshirokinskoye Rudnik (Novo) Russia 87.35% Gold exploration and production

OOO ZK Mayskoye Russia 100% Gold exploration and production

ZAO Talatui (Talatui) Russia 100% Gold exploration and production

OOO Russdragmet (RDM) Russia 100% Management Company

ZAO Trade House Mnogovershinnoe (THM) Russia 100% Services Company

OOO Zabaikalzoloto Project (ZBZP) Russia 100% Construction Design

Held directly by the Company
Stanmix Holding Limited (Stanmix) Cyprus 100% Holding Company
Stanmix Investments Limited (STIL) Cyprus 100% Financing Company

Acquisitions during 2003:

Zabaikalzoloto Project
In October 2003 the Group acquired 100% of OOO Zabaikalzoloto Project for total consideration of US$ 0.1 million. 
The company is licensed to perform construction engineering design work and is fully used for providing services
within the Group.

Mayskoye - Net Assets Acquired

Fair Value Provisional
Book Value adjustments fair value

US$000 US$000 US$000

Tangible fixed assets 422 34,930(a) 35,352

Cash 401 – 401

Fair value of net assets acquired 823 34,930 35,753

Discharged by:

Expenses incurred towards Mayskoye purchase 853

Cash 11,900

Deferred consideration 23,000

35,753

(a) reassessment of fixed asset values

Mayskoye is a greenfield deposit acquired on 3 September 2003 for US$35.7 million (including US$0.853 million of
acquisition costs). Included in the consideration was deferred consideration of US$23.0 million, payable in two annual
instalments of US$11.5 million each. The Group is in process of completion of the mine plan, confirming processing
technology and preparing a feasibility study, which is due for completion in late 2004. The assets have been included
in the balance sheet at the date of acquisition at the provisional assessment of fair values noted above. Based on the
result of the feasibility study the Group will reassess the provisional fair values calculated above.



NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Novo - Net Assets Acquired

As permitted by FRS7 “fair values in acquisition accounting”, the fair values of the assets and liabilities of Novo
included in the financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2002 have been revised and finalised as
outlined below.

Fair value as
previously reported Revisions Final fair value

US$000 US$000 US$000

Tangible fixed assets 3,485 9,123(b) 12,608

Stocks 18 – 18

Debtors 55 – 55

Creditors within one year (646) – (646)

Fair value of net assets acquired 2,912 9,123 12,035

Less minority interest (482) (1,509) (1,991)

Attributable net assets 2,430 7,614 10,044

Negative goodwill – (7,614) (7,614)

2,430 – 2,430

Discharged by

Cash 2,430 – 2,430

(b) revised following further technical studies

During 2003 the Group acquired an additional 3.89% interest in Novo for the consideration of US$86,000, 
increasing its total shareholding to 87.35%. Negative goodwill of US$460,000 was created following this transaction.

9. Stocks
At 31 December 2003 At 31 December 2002

US$000 US$000

Raw materials and consumables 23,507 11,001

Work in progress 4,454 3,711

Finished goods 200 5

28,161 14,717

Less provision for obsolete items (350) (1,362)

27,811 13,355

The difference between the purchase price or production cost of stocks, and their replacement cost is not material.
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10. Debtors
At 31 December 2003 At 31 December 2002

US$000 US$000

Recoverable value added tax 8,431 3,595

Prepayments 7,926 4,702

Other debtors 7,366 3,540

23,723 11,837

Less provision for doubtful debts (114) (906)

23,609 10,931

11. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
At 31 December 2003 At 31 December 2002

US$000 US$000

Trade creditors 4,052 4,011

Profit tax 504 1,018

Taxes other than profit tax 1,646 1,741

Salaries payable 1,586 685

Other creditors 3,352 38

Short term loans (Note 15) 49,941 13,896

Deferred consideration for Mayskoye acquisition 11,500 –

Obligation under finance leases and hire purchase contracts (Note 16) 2,138 1,748

Proposed final dividend 1,798 1,105

76,517 24,242

Short term loans are US dollar and rouble denominated, and are partly secured by Group’s assets and 
further sales of gold.

12. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
At 31 December 2003 At 31 December 2002

US$000 US$000

Other creditors (Note 15) 18,144 3,976

Deferred consideration for Mayskoye acquisition 11,500 –

Obligation under finance leases and hire purchase contracts (Note 16) 1,090 4,594

30,734 8,570

13. Provisions for liabilities and charges
At 31 December 2002

At 31 December 2003 Restated
US$000 US$000

Deferred tax (Note 14) 2,530 852

Site restoration provision (Note 17) 9,692 8,020

12,222 8,872



14. Deferred tax
Deferred tax included in the balance sheet is as follows:

At 31 December 2002
At 31 December 2003 Restated

US$000 US$000

Deferred tax balance at the beginning of period 852 1,332

Adjustment to prior period 46 (1,662)

Charged to the profit and loss account 1,632 1,182

Deferred tax balance at the end of period 2,530 852

Deferred tax comprises:

At 31 December 2002
At 31 December 2003 Restated

US$000 US$000

Fixed asset timing differences 2,536 1,088

Other timing differences (6) (236)

Total deferred tax liability 2,530 852

No deferred tax benefit is recognised in relation to the site restoration provision. Restoration expenses are tax
deductible when incurred. However, it is not certain that there will be sufficient income towards the end of the mine’s
life against which the restoration expenditure can be offset and therefore future tax relief has not been assumed. The
amount of the deferred tax asset not recognised at 31 December 2003 is US$667,000 (at 31 December 2002 -
US$718,000).

No deferred tax benefit is recognised in relation to the long-term investment loans written off. Tax relief on loan write-
off is only obtained when the debtor is declared insolvent. Given the uncertainty regarding this event, no future tax
relief has been assumed. The amount of the deferred tax asset not recognised at 31 December 2003 is US$241,000 (at
31 December 2002 - US$429,000).

No deferred tax benefit is recognised in relation to the provision for obsolete inventory. These materials are unlikely to
be used for the production purposes in future and therefore future tax relief is not assumed. The amount of the
deferred tax asset not recognised at 31 December 2003 is US$84,000 (at 31 December 2002 - US$48,000).
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15. Loans and other creditors
At 31 December 2003 At 31 December 2002

US$000 US$000

Amounts falling due:

Within one year 49,941 13,896

In one to two years 17,026 –

In two to five years 1,604 –

In more than five years – 3,976

68,571 17,872

Less: bank arrangement fees (486) –

68,085 17,872

Less: included in creditors: amounts falling due within one year (Note 11) (49,941) (13,896)

18,144 3,976

The total amount of secured loans as at 31 December 2003 is US$65,860,000 (At December 2002 - US$13,896,000).
The loans are secured over fixed assets and stock. The amounts payable after more than five years are interest free.

16. Obligations under leases and hire purchase contracts
Amounts due under finance leases and hire purchase contracts:

At 31 December 2003 At 31 December 2002
US$000 US$000

Amounts falling due:

Within one year 2,138 1,748

In one to two years 967 2,324

In two to five years 123 2,270

In more than five years – –

Total obligations under lease 3,228 6,342

Less: included in obligations under lease: amounts falling due within one year (2,138) (1,748)

Total 1,090 4,594

17. Site restoration provision
Provisions for environmental restoration comprise:

Total
US$000

At 31 December 2002 8,020

Change in estimates 1,211

Unwinding of discount 461

Balance at the end of period 9,692

Environmental restoration provisions relate to obligations to repair and make safe mines after use and the estimated
costs of cleaning up any chemical leakage. Most of these costs are expected to be incurred at the end of the mines’
useful operations, approximately between 2015-2022. The extent and cost of future remediation programmes are
inherently difficult to estimate. They depend on the scale of any possible contamination and the timing and extent of
corrective actions. The provision has been estimated using existing technology, current prices, prudent interpretations
of the relevant legislation and discounted at 5%.



18. Share capital - authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid
At 31 December 2003 At 31 December 2002

US$000 US$000

Authorised

300,000,000 Ordinary shares of £0.001 each 440 440

Allotted, called up and fully paid

110,525,821 Ordinary shares of £0.001 each 162 162

At an Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on 25 November 2002, the Company increased the
Authorised Share Capital to £300,000 divided into 300,000,000 Ordinary Shares of £0.001 each by creating 200,000,000
new Ordinary Shares of £0.001 each and converting each of the 10,000,000 existing Ordinary Shares of £0.01 into ten
Shares of £0.001 each. Highland Gold was admitted to The Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock
Exchange on 17 December 2002 with the placing of a further 10,525,821 new Ordinary Shares for cash of US$31.8
million at £1.90 per share. Issue costs of US$7.0 million were incurred.

19. Reserves
Share premium Profit and loss

account account
US$000 US$000

Balance at 31 December 2002 (restated) 54,696 6,067

Adjustment for over provision of share issue costs in 2002 39 –

Retained profit for the period – 14,593

Balance at 31 December 2003 54,735 20,660

20. Dividends and other appropriations
12 months ended 6 months ended

31 December 2003 31 December 2002
US$000 US$000

Dividends:

Equity dividends on ordinary shares:

interim paid 1.5c 1,658 –

final proposed 1.5c (2002 – 1.0c) 1,798 1,105

3,456 1,105

21. Reconciliation of shareholders’ funds
6 months ended

12 months ended 31 December 2002
31 December 2003 Restated

US$000 US$000

Shareholders’ funds at the beginning of period 60,925 31,513

Share issues during the period – 25,165

Adjustment for over provision of share issue costs in 2002 39 –

Profit and loss retained for the period 14,593 4,247

Shareholders’ funds at end of period 75,557 60,925
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22. Notes to the cash flow statement

(a) Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating activities
6 months ended

12 months ended 31 December 2002
31 December 2003 Restated

US$000 US$000

Operating profit 27,892 6,370

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation 4,372 1,381

Other non cash 479 –

Cash generated from operating activity 32,743 7,751

Changes in working capital:

(Increase)/decrease in debtors (2,746) 1,306

Increase in stock (13,444) (3,113)

(Increase)/decrease in deferred costs (1,250) 142

Decrease in creditors (254) (273)

Increase in VAT (4,836) –

(Decrease)/increase in provisions (2,611) 1,137

Total changes in working capital (25,141) (801)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 7,602 6,950

(b) Analysis of net debt
At 31 December 2002 Cash flow Exchange difference Other non cash At 31 December 2003

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

Cash in bank and in hand and 

short term deposits 26,525 (21,212) 48 – 5,361

Capital element of finance leases (6,342) 1,738 – 1,376 (3,228)

Loans and other long term creditors (17,872) (51,530) – 832 (68,570)

2,311 (71,004) 48 2,208 (66,437)

23. Earnings per share
12 months ended 6 months ended

31 December 2003 31 December 2002

Profit for the period attributable to shareholders (US$000) 18,049 5,352

Weighted average number of shares in issue 110,525,821 102,116,605

Basic and diluted earnings per share (US$) 0.163 0.052



24. Financial instruments
The Group’s financial instruments comprise borrowings, investments, cash and various items, such as trade debtors,
trade creditors and contractual provisions arising in the ordinary course of its operations. The Group does not acquire,
hold or issue derivative instruments for trading purposes.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk.

Interest rate risk
The Group finances its operations through a mixture of retained earnings and bank borrowings. Borrowings are
denominated in Russian roubles and US dollars. These borrowings bear interest at both fixed rates and variable as
disclosed below.

The carrying values of the financial assets and liabilities are materially equal to their fair value, other than “Other long
term creditors” fair valued at US$11.2 million. With the exception of the analysis of currency exposure, the analysis
below excludes short term debtors and creditors.

Financial liabilities - interest rate profile for the Group as at 31 December 2003

Bearing interest Bearing interest Weighted
at fixed rate at variable rate average rate Interest free Total

Currency US$000 US$000 % US$000 US$000

Short-term loans USD 28,715 – 8.31% – 28,715

Long-term loans USD – 37,144 6.48% – 37,144

Other long term creditors RUR – – – 14,211 14,211

Capital element of finance leases USD 3,228 – 12.5% – 3,228

31,943 37,144 14,211 83,298

The weighted average period of the capital element of finance leases is four years.

Financial liabilities - interest rate profile for the Group as at 31 December 2002

Bearing interest Weighted
at fixed rate average rate Interest free Total

Currency US$000 % US$000 US$000

Short-term loans USD 13,896 9.5% – 13,896

Other long term creditors RUR – – 3,976 3,976

Capital element of finance leases USD 6,342 16.2% – 6,342

20,238 3,976 24,214

The weighted average period of the capital element of finance leases is four years.
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Financial assets - interest rate profile for the Group as at 31 December 2003

Fixed rate Weighted
financial assets average rate Interest free Total

Currency US$000 % US$000 US$000

Cash at bank and in hand RUR, USD, GBP 5,361 1.8% – 5,361

5,361 – 5,361

The weighted average period during which interest rates are fixed on financial assets is less than one year.

Financial assets - interest rate profile for the Group as at 31 December 2002

Fixed rate Weighted
financial assets average rate Interest free Total

Currency US$000 % US$000 US$000

Cash at bank and in hand RUR, USD, GBP 26,525 1.5% – 26,525

26,525 – 26,525

The weighted average period during which interest rates are fixed on financial assets is less than one year.

Currency exposures
The table below shows the Group’s net monetary assets/(liabilities) currency exposures:

At 31 December 2003 At 31 December 2002
US$000 US$000

Net monetary assets/(liabilities)

RUR 15,274 (3,615)

GBP (1,451) 9,269

13,823 5,654



25. Post Balance Sheet events
On 28 January 2004 the Board announced that the Group has agreed a share issue and a strategic partnership with
Barrick Gold Corporation (“Barrick”) of Canada. According to the share issue agreement and subsequent to Barrick’s
purchase of 10% stake in the Group:

• Highland Gold issued 9,312,439 new ordinary shares at a price of 235p per share to Barrick raising gross
proceeds of US$40.0 million (£21.88 million) for Highland Gold

• The share issue took Barrick’s total shareholding from approximately 10% to approximately 17% of the
company’s enlarged issued share capital

• The proceeds had been used to strengthen Highland Gold’s financial position and to accelerate the capital
expenditure program.

• Barrick has agreed that it will not dispose of its new ordinary shares for a period of six months

• Barrick has a right of first refusal with respect to third party investment in the Mayskoye deposit

• Barrick has the right to nominate one director to the Board of Highland Gold

In addition, the Group and Barrick entered into a four year strategic partnership, with a one-year rolling contract
thereafter, to develop opportunities in the Russian gold sector, including:

• An agreement on how Highland Gold and Barrick will co-operate in Russia, including the right but not the
obligation, on an exclusive basis, for Barrick to participate in up to 50% of any acquisition made by Highland Gold
in Russia and similar rights for Highland Gold for any acquisition made by Barrick in certain regions of Russia

• An agreement to pursue the foundation of an exploration joint venture and to second certain personnel for
technical exchange program.

On 16 September 2003 the Group entered into a short-term loan agreement with Promsviazbank (PSB) for US$12.0
million. Subsequent to year-end this loan had been fully repaid to PSB.

On 31 March 2003 the Group entered into a short-term loan agreement with International Moscow Bank (IMB) for
US$9.0 million. Subsequent to year-end this loan had been fully repaid to IMB.

On 31 October 2003 the Group entered into a short term loan agreement with MDM Bank (MDM) for US$8.0 million.
Subsequent to year-end this loan had been fully repaid to MDM.

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued
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26. Related party transactions
Fleming Family & Partners (“FF&P”) and Highland Gold Mining are companies with common shareholders. During the
year, an agreement was entered into with FF&P for the provision of corporate consultancy services for which FF&P
charge US$10,000 per month. For the year ended 31 December 2003, FF&P had charged US$50,000 under this
agreement, in addition to US$500,000 for services provided in relation to the acquisition of Mayskoye.

As at 31 December 2003, amounts owing to FF&P totaled US$520,000 (at 31 December 2002 - US$143,000).

27. Capital commitments
Amounts contracted for but not provided for in the financial statements amounted to US$5,074,000 for the Group (at
31 December 2002 - US$4,200,000).

28. Investments (Company)
Total

US$000

Cost and net book value:

At 31 December 2002 30,901

Transfer to amounts due from group undertakings (179)

30,722

Refer to note 8 for details of the investments held by the Company.

29. Debtors (Company)
At 31 December 2003 At 31 December 2002

US$000 US$000

Amount due from group undertakings 25,609 –

Prepayments 232 264

Dividends receivable 1,400 1,550

Total debtors 27,241 1,814

30. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (Company)
At 31 December 2003 At 31 December 2002

US$000 US$000

Other creditors 1,929 2,665

Proposed final dividend 1,798 1,105

3,727 3,770

31. Reserves (Company)
Share premium Profit and loss

account account
US$000 US$000

Balance at 31 December 2002 54,696 20

Adjustment for over provision of share issue costs in 2002 39 –

Retained loss for the year – (3)

Balance at 31 December 2003 54,735 17



12 months ended 6 months ended 6 months ended 6 months ended
Pro forma 31 December 2003 31 December 2003 30 June 2003 31 December 2002

Balance Sheet US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

Non-current assets 137,943 137,943 137,943 60,618 51,779

Current assets 69,532 58,532 58,532 44,463 51,312

Total assets 207,475 196,475 196,475 105,081 103,091

Non-current liabilities 42,956 42,956 42,956 19,730 17,442

Current liabilities 47,517 76,517 76,517 17,245 24,242

Minority interests 1,445 1,445 1,445 347 482

Equity 115,557 75,557 75,557 67,759 60,925

Total liabilities and equity 207,475 196,475 196,475 105,081 103,091

Profit and Loss Account

Sales 71,578 71,578 40,199 31,379 27,420

Operating profit 27,892 27,892 15,651 12,241 6,370

Other gains and losses including interest net (3,260) (3,260) (2,757) (503) 822

Profit before taxation 24,632 24,632 12,894 11,738 7,192

Tax (6,583) (6,583) (3,337) (3,246) (1,840)

Profit after taxation 18,049 18,049 9,557 8,492 5,352

Dividends (3,456) (3,456) (1,798) (1,658) (1,105)

Retained earnings 14,593 14,593 7,759 6,834 4,247

Statistics

Production (oz) 194,000 194,000 104,000 90,000 87,000

Net current assets/(liabilities) (US$000) 22,015 (17,985) (17,985) 27,218 27,070

Shares issued, average 110,525,821 110,525,821 110,525,821 110,525,821 100,858,083

Earnings per share (US$) 0.163 0.163 0.086 0.077 0.052

Dividends per share (US$) 0.030 0.030 0.015 0.015 0.010

Dividend cover 5.22 5.22 5.31 5.12 4.84

Interest cover 7.32 7.32 6.93 10.94 7.00

The pro forma balance sheet shows the effect on the 31 December 2003 group balance sheet of the share issue of US$40 million to Barrick Gold
Corporation of Canada announced on 28 January 2004 as if the proceeds of the share issue had been received on 31 December 2003. In the pro
forma of the proceeds of US$40 million, US$29 million has been set off against borrowings and US$11 million has been added to cash and bank
balances.

UNAUDITED HISTORIC SUMMARY
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

HIGHLAND GOLD MINING LIMITED
HOLDING COMPANY FOR THE GROUP

STANMIX INVESTMENTS LTD
INTERMEDIATE FINANCE COMPANY

STANMIX HOLDING LTD
INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY

OOO RUSSDRAGMET
MANAGEMENT COMPANY

ZAO MNOGOVERSHINNOE
OWNER OF THE MNV MINING
OPERATION

OOO DARASUNSKY
OWNER OF THE DARASUN DEVELOPMENT
PROJECT WHICH INCLUDES DARASUN,
TEREMKY, TALATUI DEPOSIT

OOO  ZK MAYSKOYE
OWNER OF THE MAYSKOYE
DEVELOPMENT PROJECT

ZAO TRADE HOUSE
SERVICES COMPANY

OAO NOVOSHIROKINSKOYE
OWNER OF THE NOVO DEVELOPMENT
PROJECT

OOO ZABAIKALZOLOTO PROJECT
PROJECT ENGINEERING

ZAO TALATUI

Highland Gold Mining Limited holds 100% of the equity share capital of the following companies:

Name Country of incorporation Principal activity and place of business
Stanmix Holding Limited Cyprus Holding Company, Cyprus
Stanmix Investments Limited Cyprus Finance Company, Cyprus

Stanmix Holding Limited holds 100% of the equity share capital of the following companies:

Name Country of incorporation Principal activity and place of business
OOO Russdragmet (RDM) Russia Management services, Moscow
ZAO Mnogovershinnoe (MNV) Russia Mining and mineral exploration, Mnogovershinnoe
OOO Darasunsky Rudnik (Darasun) Russia Mineral exploration, Darasun
OOO ZK Mayskoye (Mayskoye) Russia Mining and mineral exploration, Mayskoye

MNV holds the following interests in the equity share capital of the following companies:

Name % Country of incorporation Principal activity and place of business
OAO Novoshirokinskoye Rudnik (Novo) 87.35 Russia Mineral exploration, Novoshirokinskoye
ZAO Trade House Mnogovershinnoe (THM) 100.00 Russia Consumer durables for employees

Mnogovershinnoe
OOO Zabaikalzoloto Project 50.00 Russia Project Engineering, Chita

Darasun holds the following interests in the equity share capital of the following companies:

Name % Country of incorporation Principal activity and place of business
ZAO Talatui (Talatui) 100.00 Russia Mine exploration, Talatui
OOO Zabaikalzoloto Project 50.00 Russia Project Engineering, Chita

PRINCIPAL GROUP COMPANIES

100% 100%100% 100%

100% 100%50%87% 50%

100% 100%
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•

The Group has updated the reserve
statement of its mines currently in
production and after taking out oz
mined this year. The Group does not
include in its reserves and
resources statements the P category
as the economic viability of this
category remains to be proven. 

The Group is currently analysing in
great detail all of its ore bodies.

Reserves at Talatui and at 
Novo are in the process of being
recalculated as part of final feasibility
studies and we expect final results by
the end of the second quarter 2004 
for Talatui and by the end of the
fourth quarter 2004 for Novo.

The Group is also putting all
geological data available in digital
form in order to facilitate and
accelerate exploration and the
definition of mining plans in the
future. This will also constitute the
basic database to convert our
reserves into international standards
if and when necessary. We will also
assess on an asset by asset basis the
need to conduct audits of reserves
and drillings.

The Group states its resources and reserves base in
accordance with the Russian classification system. 
At the time of the Admission to AIM in 
December 2002, SRK Consulting examined the
resources and reserves statements for MNV, 
Darasun and Novo and considered them within
categories defined by the JORC Code. 

Overview of
resources and
reserves
(in millions of oz)

MNV
(producing)
Russia’s 2nd largest
producing gold mine
Consistent track record 
of production growth

DARASUN
(about to produce)
High grade ore from 
3 deposits
Production due to start
in May 2004

NOVOSHIROKINSKOYE
(in development)
Polymetallic deposit
Feasibility study ongoing
Planned initial 
production 2005

MAYSKOYE
(in development)
A world class gold deposit
Over 400km of drilling
already completed

Resources
Reserves

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

•
•

2.8
1.9

3.1
1.0

1.8
1.0

8.9
3.7
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RESOURCES AND RESERVES
CONTINUED

RESOURCES at 31 December 2003
Tonnes Gold Au content Au content

000 (g/t) (kg, 000) (oz, 000)
MNV B (Measured) 1,148.20 7.72 8,867.00 285.08

C1 (Indicated) 5,785.20 10.04 58,061.90 1,866.73
C2 (Inferred) 1,735.00 10.77 18,683.00 600.67
TOTAL 8,668.40 9.88 85,611.90 2,752.48

DARASUN B (Measured) 170.00 13.00 2,210.00 71.00
C1 (Indicated) 6,380.00 9.70 61,886.00 1,984.00
C2 (Inferred) 2,910.00 11.40 33,174.00 1,065.00
TOTAL 9,460.00 10.28 97,270.00 3,120.00

NOVOSHIROKINSKOYE B (Measured) 680.00 10.50 7,140.00 230.00
C1 (Indicated) 5,200.00 6.50 33,800.00 1,087.00
C2 (Inferred) 3,480.00 4.50 15,660.00 503.00
TOTAL 9,360.00 6.05 56,600.00 1,820.00

MAYSKOYE B (Measured)
C1 (Indicated) 6,702.00 12.10 81,094.20 2,605,00
C2 (Inferred) 17,741.00 11.20 198,699.20 6,366.00
TOTAL 24,443.00 11.45 279,793.40 8,971.00

TOTAL 51,931.40 10.00 519,275.30 16,663.48

MINEABLE ORE RESERVES

RESERVES at 31 December 2003
Tonnes Gold Au content Au content

000 (g/t) (kg, 000) (oz, 000)
MNV B (Proved) 1,145.28 7.34 8,403.80 270.19

C1 (Probable) 6,197.76 8.17 50,637.20 1,628.02
TOTAL 7,343.04 8.04 59,041.00 1,898.21

DARASUN B (Proved)
C1 (Probable) 3,220.00 10.30 33,166.00 1,070.00
TOTAL 3,220.00 10.30 33,166.00 1,070.00

NOVOSHIROKINSKOYE B (Proved) 820.00 7.90 6,478.00 208.00
C1 (Probable) 4,700.00 5.50 25,850.00 831.00
TOTAL 5,520.00 5.86 32,328.00 1,039.00

MAYSKOYE C1+C2 (Probable) 9,950.00 11.50 114,425.00 3,679.00
TOTAL 9,950.00 11.50 114,425.00 3,679.00

TOTAL 26,033.04 9.18 238,960.00 7,686.21

Notes:
1. Resources include mineable ore reserves.
2. Reserves are calculated using estimates for dilution and losses.
3. Reserves were calculated using the following gold price assumptions: MNV at US$290/oz., Darasun at US$270/oz., Mayskoye at US$270/oz.
4. Novo:

– Gold grades are in equivalent ounces for Novo to reflect net payable values for Silver, Lead and Zinc.
– The conversion rates used are 0.013 g/t for Silver and 0.3 g/t for both Zinc and Lead.
– Prices used in the calculation were: Au – US$317/oz.; Ag – US$5.07/oz.; Zn – US$808/t; Pb – US$454/t.

5. Mayskoye reserves: C2 geological grades are normally higher but have been reduced to the grade of C1.



Khabarovsk Region
The Khabarovsk Region is one of the
largest administrative-territorial
regions in the Russian Federation. It
borders China and is washed by the
Sea of Okhotsk and the Sea of Japan.
It is home to 1.5 million people. The
capital, Khabarovsk, has
approximately 700,000 inhabitants
and has seen a surge in investment
activities over the last couple of
years. It is anticipated that the region
will benefit from the development of
gas fields in the Sakhalin islands.
The region has an abundance of
natural resources - land, water,
forest, precious species of fish and
animals, ores of ferrous metals,
nonferrous and precious metals.

Location
Mnogovershinnoe (MNV) is located in
the far-east of the Russian
Federation, some 650 km north of
the city of Khabarovsk and is
accessed from Nikolaevsk-na-
Amure, a sea and river port and the
principal regional centre, via a 132
km long gravel road. Equipment and
material is delivered to the
operations between the months of
May and October, with access by road
available all year round.

Background
The MNV deposit was first discovered
in 1959 in the exploration settlement
of Mnogovershinoye. Detailed
exploration started in 1963. MNV
produced its first oz of gold in 1991
and a mining village of 4,000 people
developed around the asset. In 1997,
the mine was closed due to poor
technical & financial performance as
well as lack of funds for
development. In 1998, Ivan Koulakov
and his team acquired the company
that owned the license and key
mining assets, introduced a new
management team and turned the
mine around.

The Group owns 100% of the MNV
joint-stock company, which has a
licence for the extraction of gold ore
valid until December 2018 and owns
all assets necessary for production.
MNV complies with the conditions of
the license, which include certain
mining, milling and production
targets together with employment,
safety and environmental conditions.

MINING ASSETS

MNV
MINE
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MNV Managing Director -
Yuri Y. Borsch (aged 50)
Yuri Yurievich Borsch graduated from
the Mining Department of the Frunze
Polytechnic Institute. He is a talented
mining engineer with 27 years of
experience. Since 1977 he has
worked for a number of Soviet and
Russian mining entities, including
“Zabaikal-zoloto” (gold-mining),
“Yakut-zoloto” (gold-mining),
“Tianshan-olove” (tin-mining),
“Kyrgyz-altyn” (gold-mining). 
Since 2001, Mr Borsch has been
working as Managing Director of 
ZAO “Mnogovershinnoye” (MNV), a
time during which he supervised
growth of 26% at the mine.

HISTORIC PERFORMANCE ORE PRODUCTION 1999-04

Current Mill Capacity
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MNV at a glance
- At the current level of production

the expected mine life is in excess
of 10 years.

- Over the life of the mine, we
anticipate open-pit mining with an
average grade of 7.2 g/t to
represent 35% of ore mined and
underground mining with an
average grade of 8.5 g/t to
represent 65% of ore mined.

- The technology used is resin
leaching. Recovery rates have
consistently stayed at around 92%.
Actual mill throughput at 890,000
tonnes is at full capacity.

- For 2003 cash operating costs of
US$159 per oz, total cash costs 
of US$184 and total production
costs of US$207.

- Maintenance capital expenditures
will stay in the US$3-6 million
range per year.

- MNV’s upside is in the exploration 
of new deposits in the MNV region,
with the potential to extend the



The Chita region
The Chita region has long held a
strategic geopolitical position at the
border with Mongolia and China. Its
infrastructure is consequently more
developed than in many other
regions of Russia. Today, it is the
main trading route between Russia
and China. Its economy is also bound
to benefit from the development of
large oil pipelines to the Far East. It
is thinly populated. Chita, the capital,
has 300,000 inhabitants and is a
vibrant city. The region has extensive
natural resources, including ferrous,
non-ferrous, precious and rear
metals, fluorspar, black and brown
coal, semi-precious stones, mineral
water, and raw stock for building
materials production.

Location
The Darasun project is situated about
260 km north of the city of Chita, in
the Chita Region. It is accessible all
year round by gravel and tarred
roads. The nearest rail station is
Shilka some 80 km to the south on a
gravel road. The project includes
three deposits, Darasun, Teremky
and Talatui.

Background
The Group holds a 100% interest in
OOO Darasun, acquired in September
2002, which owns the licenses for the
Darasun and Teremky deposits, both
valid until 2023, the temporary
license to Talatui, as well as title to
all production assets.

Mining activities have taken place at
Darasun for centuries which led to
the discovery of source vein deposit
in the late 1800s. The first shafts
were sunk in 1905 and were
deepened in 1927. Darasun produced
about 3 million oz of gold between
1927 and 2000, when it ceased
mining activities due to financial
constraints.

MINING ASSETS 
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Darasun Managing Director -
Vyacheslav Gousamovich Zamaleev
(aged 58)
Vyacheslav Gousamovich Zamaleev
graduated from the Far Eastern
Polytechnic Institute as a mining
engineer. Mr Zamaleev was
recognised as one of Russia’s most
influential people in the gold sector,
no doubt in light of a long track
record of delivering results over his
34 years as a mining engineer. From
1998 until 2002, he has successfully
led the turnaround of MNV. In 2002
Mr Zamaleev was appointed
Managing Director of OOO
Darasunsky Rudnik.

Darasun at a glance
- Based on current resources, 

the expected mine life is 
20 years

- Expected to produce about 
40,000 oz of gold this year and
reach full capacity by 2005 
with full annual production of 
c. 120,000 oz.

- The metallurgical process is
flotation and carbon leaching. 
Full annual mill capacity of the
plant will be 450,000 tonnes per
year. Average head grade to the 
mill will be 9.6 g/t. The expected
recovery rate is c. 88%.

- Capital expenditure in 2003 was
US$23.0 million.

PRODUCTION DIRECTORNEW PROCESSING PLANT



The Chita region
Novoshirokinskoye was the first mine
that Highland Gold acquired in the
Chita region back in the summer of
2002. Since then, Highland Gold has
bought the mine located in Darasun
and a reputable mining engineering
firm based in the city of Chita. The
Group has also established a
representative office, where it
employs highly qualified mining,
logistics and administration
personnel. It is the Group’s intention
to grow in the regions where it has
established a strong local presence.

Location
Novoshirokinskoye is located in Chita
Region some 70 km from the
Chinese border. The site is accessible
by tarred and gravel roads. The
nearest train station is Klichka, some
200 km south of the project.

Background
The deposit was discovered in 1951
and extensive exploration followed
between 1956 and 1962. In 1970,
construction for a base metal mine
started and was suspended in the
70s. A modified development plan
was proposed and approved in 1988
but again suspended in 1992 after
the majority of the construction work
was complete due to termination of
state funding. In August 2002, the
mine was acquired by the Group who
undertook an extensive feasibility
study designed to redirect the
operations from a primarily zinc and
lead producing deposit to a gold
deposit.

ZAO MNV owns 87% of OAO
Novoshirokinskoye. Minority
shareholders include the local
government and individuals. It is the
intention of the Group to acquire the
company 100%. OAO
Novoshirokinskoye owns the
temporary production license to the
Novoshirokinskoye deposit and all
mining infrastructure currently in
place are registered in its name. We
are confident that it will obtain the
long term production license during
the course of this year. In
anticipation, we are preparing a
feasibility study into the development
of this project.
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Novoshirokinskoye Managing
Director- Yakimov Sergey Vasilyevich
Sergey Vasilyevich Yakimov (aged 49),
graduated from the Krasnoyarsk
Institute of Non Ferrous Metals in
1983. He is a qualified mining
engineer. He started his career as an
underground drift miner in the
Blagodatsky mine where he was
promoted to a management position.
He then became the chief engineer
and later General Director of the
Aktuevsky mine. Since 1995, he has
been the General Director of the
Novoshirokinskoye mine.

Novoshirokinskoye at a glance
- Expected mine life of over 12 years. 

- Expect full production capacity 
to be reached by 2006, at 75,000 oz.  

- The deposit is mined by
underground method.

- The metallurgical process is
flotation and pyrometallurgy.
Expected gold recovery rate is 86%.
Full annual mill capacity of the
plant is 350,000 tonnes per year. 

- Average head grade for gold is
4.5 g/t, for silver 80 g/t., for lead 
3.45% and for zinc 1.53%.

- Based on the results of the first
stage of the feasibility study,
obtained in January 2004, we are
looking at ways to improve the
project parameters. We signed a
Research Agreement in March 2004
with a project design contractor to
increase the mill production rate up
to 450,000 tonnes per annum. 
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MAYSKOYE
MINE

MINING ASSETS 
continued

The Chukotka Region
Chukotka Autonomous Okrug is
situated on the remotest north-
eastern end of Eurasia, running like a
wedge in between two oceans: the
Pacific and the Arctic. It is sparsely
populated with a total of 40,000
inhabitants. The capital is Anadyr.
Chukotka’s economy is concentrated
on natural resource extraction and
harvesting. Chukotka’s economic
potential lies in the export of coal,
gold, silver, platinum, tin and
tungsten concentrates, scrap metal,
fish, caviar, leather products (raw
and finished), sea mammal fat and
souvenirs.

Location
The Mayskoye gold deposit is located
in the Chaunski District of the
Chukotka Autonomous Territory. The
project area is 10 km2 in area. Access
and supply is via the seasonal (May to
October) Arctic seaport of Pevek,
which also has an airport suitable for
all types of aircraft. The deposit is
linked to Pevek by road via
Komsomolsky, a small mining centre
58 km northwest of Mayskoye, a total
distance of 187 km. The section from
Pevek to Komsomolsky is of
adequate all-weather standard, but
approximately 80 km between
Komsomolsky and Mayskoye is
temporary and will require
upgrading.

Background
The deposit was identified in 1972.
Following an intensive exploration
program from 1974 until 1985 the
reserves were first approved in 1986
by the State Committee for Reserves.
Then the focus went to finding ways
of optimizing of metallurgical
recovery from 1987 to 1990.
Development funding became limited
due to economic & political transition
and weak gold prices. In 2002, the
SRC approved new reserve
calculations. There is no town in the
area of the deposit.
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Mayskoye is an acquisition that
provides investors in Highland Gold
with a large, high grade reserve
ready for development. The Group
holds 100% interest, completed in
November 2003.

Mayskoye Managing Director -
Kiselev Alexander Kuzmich
Alexander Kuzmich Kiselev (aged 57),
graduated from the Moscow
geological prospecting Institute in
1970. He is a qualified geological
engineer. Mr Kiselev has held
positions in state bodies related to
geological prospection including in
the Chukotka region from 1976 until
today. He has held senior positions in
the Natural resource Committee of
the Chukotka region since 1992. He
was hired by Highland Gold to
manage the development of the
Mayskoye deposit.

Bacterial leaching
Subject to positive results from the
feasibility studies and sample tests,
the Group intends to use bacterial
leaching to extract gold from the
Mayskoye ore.

Refractory sulphide gold ores are
common around the world, and are
estimated to account for roughly 25%
of all gold ores in Russia. In the past,
the conventional processes of
roasting and pressure oxidation have
been used to treat refractory ores,
however in recent years bacterial
leaching has proven itself to be
reliable, environmentally sound and
economically competitive. It is used
successfully at mines in Russia and
in other countries.

Bacterial leaching pre-treats
refractory sulphide gold ores such as
pyrite, arsenopyrite and pyrrhotite. It
was developed to increase gold
recovery rates during the
metallurgical extraction process. The
gold in these sulphide ores is
encapsulated in sulphide minerals
which prevent the gold from being
leached by cyanide. The bacterial
leaching process uses naturally
occurring bacteria to destroy the
sulphide minerals and accelerate
oxidation thereby exposing the gold
for subsequent cyanidation with
increased recovery rates.

Mayskoye at a glance
- Under current assumptions the

expected mine life is 20 years.

- The deposit will be primarily mined
by underground method.

- The metallurgical process is most
likely to be flotation, bio leaching
and carbon leaching.

- If the exploration on deep elevations
shows positive and economically
mineable reserve, the life of the
mine could be extended.
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SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE AT 13 APRIL 2004

Stock information
Listing sector/ticker HGM.L

Number of shares in issue 119,838,260

Market capitalisation US$708,064,359
Last updated at market closing 13 April 2004 with 1£ = US$1.8180

Highs/low High 01/07/2004 £3.10 US$5.52

Low 08/04/2003 £1.83 US$3.31

Liquidity Average daily volume in 2003 232,557
(excluding OTC trading)

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Highland Gold Mining Limited (the Company) will be held
on Thursday 20 May 2004 at the De Vere Grand Hotel, The Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey JE4 8WD at 12.00 pm to
consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions;

Ordinary Business

1. That the Directors’ Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2003, be adopted.

2. That a final dividend of US$0.015 for each Ordinary Share of £0.001 in the Company be declared.

3. That Dmitri Korobov who retires as a Director of the Company be re-elected.

4. That Gennady Nevidomi who retires as a Director of the Company be re-elected.

5. That Denis Alexandrov who retires as a Director of the Company be re-elected.

6. That Ernst & Young LLP be re-elected as Auditors of the Company, to hold office until the conclusion of the
next Annual General Meeting.

7. That the Directors be authorised to fix the Auditor’s remuneration.

Special Business

To consider and if thought fit to pass the following special resolution:

8. That the Directors be and they are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised to allot up to 33% of the
authorised but unissued share capital of the Company being, 180,161,740 Ordinary Shares of £0.001 each to
such persons at such times and on such terms as they think proper without firstly making an offer to each
person who holds Ordinary Shares, such authority to expire at the conclusion of the third anniversary from
this year’s Annual General Meeting, save that the Company may, before such expiry make an offer or
agreement which would or might require Ordinary Shares to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors
may allot Ordinary Shares pursuant to any such offer or agreement as if the authority had not expired, and the
authority referred to above shall be exercised in accordance with all powers set out in the Articles of
Association of the Company and the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, as amended.

By Order of the Board

Duncan Baxter

Director

19 April 2004

Notes

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and, on a poll, vote instead of him. A proxy
need not be a member of the Company. A form of proxy is enclosed with this notice.

2. The form of proxy, the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed or an office or notarially certified copy of it,
should be lodged with the Transfer Agents, Capita Registrars (Proxies), PO Box 25, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4BR, no later than 48 hours
before the time fixed for the holding of the meeting.

3. Completing and returning a form of proxy will not prevent a member from attending the meeting and voting in person should he so wish.

4. Director’s Service contracts and register of Directors’ interests in the Share Capital of the Company are available at the registered office
of the Company for inspection during usual business hours on weekdays from the date of this notice until the date of the meeting and at
the meeting until the conclusion of the meeting.
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12 months to 6 months to 6 months to 6 months to
Dec 2003 Dec 2003 June 2003 Dec 2002

Gold produced (oz) 194,000 103,867 90,133 87,281
Gold sales (US$000) 71,578 40,199 31,379 27,420
Profit after tax (US$000) 18,049 9,557 8,492 5,352
Operating cash flow (US$000) 32,743 18,553 14,190 7,751
Operating cash costs (US$/oz) 159 166 152 159
Total assets (US$000) 196,475 196,475 105,081 103,091
Earnings per share (US$) 0.163 0.086 0.077 0.052
Dividends per share (US$) 0.030 0.015 0.015 0.010
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